Some topics on the Fourier coefficients of modular forms

Surjeet Kaushik

A Thesis Submitted to Indian Institute of Technology Hyderabad In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for The Degree of Doctor of Philosophy



भारतीय प्रौद्योगिकी संस्थान हैदराबाद Indian Institute of Technology Hyderabad

Department of Mathematics

July 25, 2018

Declaration

I declare that this written submission represents my ideas in my own words, and where ideas or words of others have been included, I have adequately cited and referenced the original sources. I also declare that I have adhered to all principles of academic honesty and integrity and have not misrepresented or fabricated or falsified any idea/data/fact/source in my submission. I understand that any violation of the above will be a cause for disciplinary action by the Institute and can also evoke penal action from the sources that have thus not been properly cited, or from whom proper permission has not been taken when needed.

Signature)

(Surjeet Kaushik)

(Roll No.)

Approval Sheet

This thesis entitled - Some topics on the Fourier coefficients of modular forms by Surjeet Kaushik is approved for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy from IIT Hyderabad.

Prof. Conjeevarani S Rajan Professor, TIFR, Mumbai.

Examiner

Dr. Pradipto Banerjee, Assistant Professor, IIT Hyderabad, Kandi. Internal Examiner

CH.V.G.N. Kumar 24/03

Dr. Narasimha Kumar, Assistant Professor, IIT Hyderabad, Kandi. Guide

Dr. J. Suryanarayana, Associate Professor, IIT Hyderabad, Kandi. Chairman

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Dr. Narasimha Kumar for his continuous support of my Ph. D. and related research, for his patience and motivation. This thesis would not have been possible without his essential inputs and productive discussions. I must admit that my supervisor helped me in all possible ways and provided an experienced ear for my doubts about writing this thesis.

Besides my adviser, I would like to thank the rest of my thesis committee: Dr. Pradipto Banerjee, Department of Mathematics, Dr. J. Suryanarayana, Department of Physics, IIT Hyderabad, for their insightful comments and encouragement. I would like to thank all the faculties of the Department of Mathematics for their care and help. Specially, I wish to thank Dr. Pradipto Banerjee, Dr. Balasubramaniam Jayaram, and Dr. Venku Naidu for the excellent courses during my course work.

I take this opportunity to thank all the members of the Department of Mathematics and Computing, IIT Guwahati. My special thanks to Prof. Bhaba Kumar Sarma, Prof. Anupam Saikia, Prof. Sukanta Pati, Prof. Shreemayee Bora, Dr. Anjan Chakrabaty, Dr. Bikash Bhattacharjya, and Dr. Jitendriya Swain for their excellent courses at M.Sc.

I wish to express my regards to Dr. Amit Sehgal for his excellent courses at B.Sc and his encouragement in pursuing further studies.

I thank to my seniors for providing a good atmosphere in our department since the inception. I also thank my fellow colleagues in the Department of Mathematics, for continuing the legacy and for useful discussions. In my daily work, I have been blessed with a friendly and cheerful group of students at IIT Hyderabad. I have many blissful moments with my friends, especially the master students in various batches, right from 2015 to 2018, here in the Department of Mathematics, and they are good companions on an otherwise the routine work would have been tiresome, and the fun we have had during the stay is unforgettable.

I have been very fortunate to have some great friends. I take this opportunity to thank all of them specially Kuldeep Singh, Sonu Rani, Manmohan Vashisth, Mudit Kumar, Munnu Kadian, Tinku Jangra, Sharmila, Munnu Sonkar, Vikas Gupta, Pradeep Mishra, Pankaj Chhillar, Hardik Tankaria, Abhinav Kumar and quartet of Priyanka Yogi, Puja Pandey, Megha Gupta, and Saloni Sinha for being the shoulder I can always depend on. I am short of words to thank them all.

Above all, I would like to express deep gratitude to my parents, for their constant support and belief in all aspects of my life and, my siblings and their family, and my uncle Vinod Gaur for their extended support and love.

To the extent possible, my advisor Dr. Narasimha Kumar has suggested all the corrections. I really hope that I have incorporated them all.

Surjeet Kaushik

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to

my beloved parents and Sonu, for their Belief, Encouragement and Love.

Abstract

This thesis consists of three parts. In the first part, we study the gaps between non-zero Fourier coefficients of cuspdial CM eigenforms in the short intervals. In the second part, we study the sign changes for the Fourier coefficients of Hilbert modular forms of half-integral weight. In the third part, we study the simultaneous behaviour of Fourier coefficients of two different Hilbert modular cusp forms of integral weight.

In **Chapter 1**, we present the definitions and some preliminaries on classical modular forms. We shall also recall some relevant results from the literature, which are useful in the subsequent chapters.

In **Chapter 2**, we show that for an elliptic curve E over \mathbb{Q} of conductor N with complex multiplication (CM) by $\mathbb{Q}(i)$, the n-th Fourier coefficient of f_E is non-zero in the short interval $(X, X + cX^{\frac{1}{4}})$ for all $X \gg 0$ and for some c > 0, where f_E is the corresponding cuspidal Hecke eigenform in $S_2(\Gamma_0(N))^{\text{new}}$, by the modularity theorem. As a consequence, we produce infinitely many cuspidal CM eigenforms f level N > 1 and weight k > 2 for which $i_f(n) \ll n^{\frac{1}{4}}$ holds, for all $n \gg 0$. This is a generalization of the result of Das and Ganguly [14] to the weight k > 2 situation.

In **Chapter 3**, we prove a result concerning the sign changes for the Fourier coefficients of Hilbert modular forms of half-integral weight. Our study focuses on certain subfamilies of coefficients that are accessible via the Shimura correspondence. This is a generalization of the results of Inam and Wiese [20] to the setting of totally real number fields.

In **Chapter 4**, we prove that for two Hilbert cusp forms, say f and g, of same level and different integral weights, there exists infinitely Fourier coefficients of f and g having the same sign (resp., having the opposite sign). We show that the simultaneous non-vanishing of the Fourier coefficients, of two non-zero distinct primitive Hilbert cuspidal non-CM eigenforms, at the powers of a fixed prime ideal has positive density. These are generalizations of some results of Gun, Kohnen and Rath [17] and Gun, Kumar and Paul [16] to the setting of totally real number fields.

Keywords: Elliptic curves, CM eigenforms, Fourier coefficients, Hilbert modular forms of integral and half-integral weights, Sign changes, non-vanishing.

MSC 2010: 11F03, 11F30, 11F31, 11F33, 11F37, 11F41, 11G05.

Contents

	Dec	laration	1	ii			
	App	oroval S	heet	iii			
	Ack	nowled	gements	iv			
			~				
1	Intr	oductio	n	1			
	1.1	Modu	lar forms	1			
		1.1.2	Congruence subgroups:	2			
		1.1.4	Modular forms:	2			
	1.2	Hecke	Operators:	5			
		1.2.3	First type of Hecke operators:	6			
		1.2.5	Second type of Hecke operators:	7			
	1.3	Old fo	orms and Newforms	8			
		1.3.6	Elliptic Curves:	10			
		1.3.9	CM forms	11			
2	On the gaps between non-zero Fourier coefficients of cuspidal CM eigen-						
	forms						
	2.1	Introduction					
	2.2	2 History					
		2.2.2	By Rankin's Method:	15			
		2.2.3	Theory of \mathcal{B} -free Numbers:	15			
		2.2.11	By Congruences:	18			
	2.3	Main	theorem	21			
		2.3.5	Proof of Theorem 2.3.1	23			
3	Sign changes for the Fourier coefficients of Hilbert modular forms of half-						
	-	integral weight					
	3.1	Introd	uction	26			

	3.2	History	27
	3.3	Hilbert modular forms	30
		3.3.1 Half-integral weight:	30
		3.3.2 Integral weight:	31
	3.4	Shimura correspondence	33
	3.5	Sato-Tate equidistribution theorem for Hilbert modular forms	34
	3.6	Main theorem	36
4		ultaneous behaviour of the Fourier coefficients of two Hilbert modu- cusp forms	40
4			40
4	lar c	cusp forms	40 40
4	lar c 4.1	cusp forms Introduction	40 40 41
4	lar c 4.1 4.2	cusp forms Introduction Statements of the main results	40 40 41 42

Publications

55

Chapter 1

Introduction

This thesis broadly comes under the area of Number Theory, and in particular in the sub-area of modular forms. In this thesis, the basic objects of our interests are elliptic curves and modular forms.

In number theory, the Fourier coefficients of integral or half-integral weight modular forms over number fields have been extensively studied because of their rich algebraic and arithmetic properties that they encompass. In this thesis, we are interested in studying the algebraic and arithmetic properties of the Fourier coefficients attached to modular forms.

In this chapter, we shall recall the basic definitions of modular forms and its properties briefly. We shall also recall the results that we need for the next chapters. Finally, we recall the concept of old forms, newforms and the notion of complex multiplication (CM). There is nothing new in this chapter that we have contributed and we closely follow the exposition in [15].

1.1 Modular forms

Definition 1.1.1. The modular group is the group of 2×2 matrices with integer entries and with determinant 1. The modular group is denoted by $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$.

Each element of modular group is also viewed as an automorphism of the Riemann sphere $\hat{\mathbb{C}} = \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$, via the linear fractional transformation

$$\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} . z = \frac{az+b}{cz+d}, \ z \in \hat{\mathbb{C}}.$$

If $c \neq 0$, then $\frac{-d}{c}$ maps to ∞ and ∞ maps to $\frac{a}{c}$, and if c = 0 then ∞ maps to ∞ .

The identity matrix I and its negative matrix -I both give the identity transformation.

Observe that the modular group $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ is generated by $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ and $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$. Hence, the group of transformations defined by the modular group is generated by the two matrix generators,

$$z \rightarrow z + 1$$
 and $z \rightarrow -1/z$.

We define the upper half-plane \mathcal{H} as

$$\mathcal{H} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{Im}(z) > 0 \}.$$

1.1.2 Congruence subgroups:

Now, let us recall the definition of congruence subgroups of $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. For any $N \in \mathbb{N}$, the principle congruence subgroup of level N is defined by

$$\Gamma(N) = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) : \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \pmod{N} \right\}.$$

Definition 1.1.3. A subgroup Γ of $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ is called a congruence subgroup if $\Gamma(N) \subseteq \Gamma$ for some $N \in \mathbb{Z}^+$. We say that Γ is a congruence subgroup of level N, when N is minimal such that $\Gamma(N) \subseteq \Gamma$.

By definition, every congruence subgroup Γ has finite index in $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$, since $\Gamma(N)$ has finite index. Now, we define some important congruence subgroups:

$$\Gamma_0(N) = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) : \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} * & * \\ 0 & * \end{bmatrix} \pmod{N} \right\}$$

and

$$\Gamma_1(N) = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) : \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 1 & * \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \pmod{N} \right\}.$$

1.1.4 Modular forms:

For any matrix $\gamma = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$, we define the factor of automorphy $j(\gamma, z) \in \mathbb{C}$ for $z \in \mathcal{H}$, as

$$j(\gamma, z) = cz + d.$$

For any $\gamma \in SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ and any integer $k \geq 1$, we define weight-k operator $|_k \gamma$ on function $f : \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{C}$ by

$$(f|_k\gamma)(z) = j(\gamma, z)^{-k} f(\gamma z), \ z \in \mathcal{H}.$$

Since the factor of automorphy is never zero or infinity, if f is meromorphic then $f|_k\gamma$ is also meromorphic and has the same zeros and poles as of $f(\gamma z)$.

Definition 1.1.5. A function $f : \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{C}$ is weakly modular form of weight k with respect to a congruence subgroup Γ , if f meromorphic and weight-k invariant under Γ , i.e., if $(f|_k\gamma) = f$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$.

Every congruence subgroup Γ of $\operatorname{SL}_2({\mathbb Z})$ contains a translation matrix of the form

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & h \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} : z \to z + h$$

for some minimal $h \in \mathbb{Z}^+$. This is because Γ contains $\Gamma(N)$ for some N, but h may properly divide N.

Every weakly modular form $f : \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{C}$ of weight k with respect to Γ is therefore $h\mathbb{Z}$ -periodic. Such a form f has the corresponding function $g : D' \to \mathbb{C}$ where D' is the punctured disk and $f(z) = g(q_h)$ where $q_h = e^{2\pi i z/h}$. If f is holomorphic on upper half plane then g is holomorphic on the punctured disk and so it has a Laurent expansion at q = 0. We define such a f to be holomorphic at ∞ , if g extends holomorphically to open complex unit disc. Thus f has a Fourier expansion

$$f(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_f(n) q_h^n, q_h = e^{2\pi i z/h}$$
 where $a_f(n) \in \mathbb{C}$.

We write Fourier coefficients of f by $a_n(f)$ or $a_f(n)$ depending on the context.

To keep the space of modular forms to be finite-dimensional, modular forms need to be holomorphic not only on \mathcal{H} but also at limit points. For a congruence subgroup Γ the idea is to adjoin not only ∞ but also the rational numbers \mathbb{Q} to \mathcal{H} , and then identify adjoin points under Γ -equivalence. A Γ -equivalence class of points $\mathbb{Q} \bigcup \{\infty\}$ is called a cusp of Γ .

When $\Gamma = \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$, all rational numbers are Γ -equivalent to ∞ and so $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ has only one cusp, represented by ∞ . But when Γ is a proper subgroup of $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ fewer points are Γ -equivalent and so Γ will have other cusps as well, represented by rational numbers. Since each $s \in \mathbb{Q}$ takes the form $s = \alpha(\infty)$ for some $\alpha \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$, the number of cusps is at most the number of cosets $\Gamma \alpha$ in $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$, but possibly fewer, a finite number since the index $[\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) : \Gamma]$ is finite. A modular form with respect to a congruence subgroup Γ should be holomorphic at the cusps. Writing any $s \in \mathbb{Q} \bigcup \{\infty\}$ as $s = \alpha(\infty)$, holomorphy at s is naturally defined in terms of holomorphy at ∞ via the operator $|_k \alpha$. Since $f|_k \alpha$ is holomorphic on \mathcal{H} and weakly modular with respect to $\alpha^{-1}\Gamma\alpha$, again a congruence subgroup of $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$, the notion of its holomorphy at ∞ makes sense.

Definition 1.1.6. Let Γ be a congruence subgroup of $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ and let $k \ge 1$ be an integer. A function $f : \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{C}$ is a modular form of weight k with respect to Γ if

- 1. f is holomorphic on H,
- 2. *f* is weight-*k* invariant under Γ , i.e., $f|_k \gamma = f$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$,
- 3. $f|_k \alpha$ is holomorphic at ∞ for all $\alpha \in SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$.

In addition,

4. *if the constant term in the Fourier expansion of* $f|_k \alpha$ *is zero, for all* $\alpha \in SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ *, then* f *is a cusp form of weight* k *with respect to* Γ *.*

The modular forms of weight k with respect to Γ are denoted by $M_k(\Gamma)$ and the cusp forms weight k with respect to Γ are denoted by $S_k(\Gamma)$.

Definition 1.1.7. For any positive integer N, a Dirichlet character modulo N is a homomorphism of multiplicative groups

$$\chi: (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^* \to \mathbb{C}^*.$$

The trivial Dirichlet character is denoted by χ_{triv} .

The group $\Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma_1(N)$ acts on the space of modular forms $M_k(\Gamma_1(N))$, and the space decomposes into a direct sum of subspaces, as

$$M_k(\Gamma_1(N)) = \bigoplus_{\chi: (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^* \to \mathbb{C}^*} M_k(N, \chi),$$

where for any Dirichlet character χ modulo N, the χ -eigenspace of $M_k(\Gamma_1(N))$ defined as $M_k(N, \chi) := \{f \in M_k(\Gamma_1(N)) : f|_k \gamma = \chi(d_{\gamma})f$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma_0(N)\}$, where d_{γ} denote the lower right entry of γ . In particular, the eigenspace $M_k(N, \chi_{triv})$ is $M_k(\Gamma_0(N))$, which we denote by $M_k(N)$, for simplicity. Similarly, for cusp forms, we have the following decomposition:

$$S_k(\Gamma_1(N)) = \bigoplus_{\chi: (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^* \to \mathbb{C}^*} S_k(N, \chi),$$

where $S_k(N, \chi) := S_k(\Gamma_1(N)) \cap M_k(N, \chi)$. In particular, the eigenspace $S_k(N, \chi_{triv})$ is $S_k(\Gamma_0(N))$, which we denote by $S_k(N)$, for simplicity.

In the next section, we shall define a set of linear transformations between the spaces of modular forms, which respects the subspace of cusp forms.

1.2 Hecke Operators:

Let Γ_1 and Γ_2 be two congruence subgroups of $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. Let $GL_2^+(\mathbb{Q})$ denote the group of 2×2 matrices with rational entries and positive determinant.

Definition 1.2.1. For each $\alpha \in \operatorname{GL}_2^+(\mathbb{Q})$, the set

$$\Gamma_1 \alpha \Gamma_2 = \{ \gamma_1 \alpha \gamma_2 : \gamma_1 \in \Gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \Gamma_2 \}$$

is a double coset in $\operatorname{GL}_2^+(\mathbb{Q})$.

Basically, the action of the double coset $\Gamma_1 \alpha \Gamma_2$ transform the space of modular forms of level Γ_1 to modular forms of level Γ_2 , which we will explain now.

The group Γ_1 acts on the double coset $\Gamma_1 \alpha \Gamma_2$ by left multiplication, partitioning it into orbits. A typical orbit is $\Gamma_1 \beta$ with representative $\beta = \gamma_1 \alpha \gamma_2$, and the orbit space $\Gamma_1 \setminus \Gamma_1 \alpha \Gamma_2$ is thus a finite disjoint union $\bigcup \Gamma_1 \beta_j$ for some choice of representative β_i of the form $\alpha \gamma_i$.

Definition 1.2.2. For congruence subgroups Γ_1 and Γ_2 of $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ and $\alpha \in GL_2^+(\mathbb{Q})$, the weight-k operator $|_k(\Gamma_1 \alpha \Gamma_2)$ maps the modular forms $f \in M_k(\Gamma_1)$ to

$$f|_k(\Gamma_1 \alpha \Gamma_2) = \Sigma_j f|_k \beta_j,$$

where β_j are orbit representative, i.e., $\Gamma_1 \alpha \Gamma_2 = \bigcup_j \Gamma_1 \beta_j$ is a disjoint union.

The double coset operator is well-defined, i.e., it is independent of how the representatives β_j are chosen, and it maps modular forms with respect to Γ_1 to modular forms with respect to Γ_2 ,

$$|_k(\Gamma_1 \alpha \Gamma_2) : M_k(\Gamma_1) \to M_k(\Gamma_2).$$

The double coset operator preserves the subspace of cusp forms, i.e.,

$$|_k(\Gamma_1 \alpha \Gamma_2) : S_k(\Gamma_1) \to S_k(\Gamma_2).$$

An inclusion of congruence subgroups $\Gamma_1(N) \subseteq \Gamma_0(N)$ induces the reverse inclusion

$$M_k(\Gamma_1(N)) \supseteq M_k(\Gamma_0(N)).$$

Now, we shall introduce two types of operators on $M_k(\Gamma_1(N))$, which preserves the subspace of cusp forms.

1.2.3 First type of Hecke operators:

The map $\Gamma_0(N) \to (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^*$ taking $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix}$ to $d \pmod{N}$ is surjective homomorphism with kernel $\Gamma_1(N)$. This shows that $\Gamma_1(N)$ is normal in $\Gamma_0(N)$ and induces an isomorphism

$$\Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma_1(N) \cong (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^*$$
 where $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \to d \pmod{N}$.

For any $\alpha \in \Gamma_0(N)$, consider the weight-*k* operator $|_k(\Gamma_1(N)\alpha\Gamma_1(N))$ for modular forms $f \in M_k(\Gamma_1(N))$ to

$$f|_k(\Gamma_1(N)\alpha\Gamma_1(N)) = f|_k\alpha, \ \alpha \in \Gamma_0(N),$$

again in $M_k(\Gamma_1(N))$, since $\Gamma_1(N)$ is a normal subgroup of $\Gamma_0(N)$. Thus, the group $\Gamma_0(N)$ acts on $M_k(\Gamma_1(N))$, and since its subgroup $\Gamma_1(N)$ acts trivially, hence this is really an action of the quotient $(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^*$.

Definition 1.2.4. The action of $\alpha = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix}$, determined by $d \pmod{N}$, and denoted by $\langle d \rangle$, is

$$\langle d \rangle : M_k(\Gamma_1(N)) \to M_k(\Gamma_1(N))$$

given by

$$\langle d \rangle f = f|_k \alpha \text{ for any } \alpha = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & \delta \end{bmatrix} \in \Gamma_0(N) \text{ with } \delta \equiv d \pmod{N}$$

These are the first type of Hecke operators and also called as diamond operators. These operators respect the subspace of cusp forms.

Now we can re-interpret the definition of $S_k(N, \chi)$ as follows. For any character $\chi : (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^* \to \mathbb{C}^*$, the space $S_k(N, \chi)$ is precisely the χ -eigenspace of the diamond operators,

$$S_k(N,\chi) = \{ f \in S_k(\Gamma_1(N)) : \langle d \rangle f = \chi(d) f \text{ for all } d \in (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^* \}$$

This also means that the diamond operators $\langle d \rangle$ respects the decomposition

$$S_k(\Gamma_1(N)) = \bigoplus_{\chi: (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^* \to \mathbb{C}^*} S_k(N, \chi).$$

1.2.5 Second type of Hecke operators:

For every prime *p*, we shall define the second type of Hecke operators, denoted by T_p , on the space of modular forms $M_k(\Gamma_1(N))$.

Definition 1.2.6. For any prime p, the weight k-operator $|_k(\Gamma_1(N) \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & p \end{bmatrix} \Gamma_1(N))$ on the space of modular forms $M_k(\Gamma_1(N))$ is denoted by T_p . These operators respect the subspace of cusp forms.

Observe that, the double coset

$$\Gamma_1(N) \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & p \end{bmatrix} \Gamma_1(N) = \left\{ \gamma \in M_2(\mathbb{Z}) : \gamma \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 1 & * \\ 0 & p \end{bmatrix} \pmod{N}, \det \gamma = p \right\}.$$

So, in fact $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & p \end{bmatrix}$ can be replaced by any matrix in this double coset to define the operator T_p . For $\Gamma_1 = \Gamma_2 = \Gamma_1(N)$, we have the following proposition

Proposition 1.2.7. ([15, Proposition 5.2.1]) Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and p be a prime. The operator $T_p = |_k(\Gamma_1(N) \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & p \end{bmatrix} \Gamma_1(N))$ on $M_k(\Gamma_1(N))$ is given by

$$T_{p}f = \begin{cases} \Sigma_{j=0}^{p-1} f|_{k}(\begin{bmatrix} 1 & j \\ 0 & p \end{bmatrix}) & \text{if } p \mid N, \\ \Sigma_{j=0}^{p-1} f|_{k}(\begin{bmatrix} 1 & j \\ 0 & p \end{bmatrix}) + f|_{k}(\begin{bmatrix} m & n \\ N & p \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} p & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}) & \text{if } p \nmid N, \text{where } mp - nN = 1. \end{cases}$$

Letting $\Gamma_1 = \Gamma_2 = \Gamma_0(N)$ instead and keeping $\alpha = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & p \end{bmatrix}$ gives the same orbit representative for $\Gamma_1 \setminus \Gamma_1 \alpha \Gamma_2$, but in this case the last representative can be replaced by $\beta_{\infty} = \begin{bmatrix} p & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$, since $\begin{bmatrix} m & n \\ N & p \end{bmatrix} \in \Gamma_0(N)$. One can explicitly write down the Fourier expansion of $T_p f$ with respect to the Fourier coefficients of f (cf. [15, Proposition 5.2.2]). The following proposition says that the Hecke operators commute.

Proposition 1.2.8. ([15, Proposition 5.2.4]) Let *d* and *e* be elements of $(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^*$, and let *p* and *q* be prime. Then

- (a) $\langle d \rangle T_p = T_p \langle d \rangle$,
- (b) $\langle d \rangle \langle e \rangle = \langle e \rangle \langle d \rangle$,
- (c) $T_pT_q = T_qT_p$.

So far, we have defined the Hecke operators $\langle d \rangle$ for $d \in (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^*$ and T_p operators for any prime p. Now, we will generalize these operators to $\langle n \rangle$ for $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, (n, N) = 1 and T_n for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$.

For $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ with (n, N) = 1, $\langle n \rangle$ is determined by $n \pmod{N}$. For $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ with (n, N) > 1, define $\langle n \rangle = 0$, the zero operator on $M_k(\Gamma_1(N))$. The mapping $n \to \langle n \rangle$ is totally multiplicative. To define T_n , set $T_1 = 1$; for prime powers, the operator is defined inductively

$$T_{p^r} = T_p T_{p^{r-1}} - p^{k-1} \langle p \rangle T_{p^{r-2}}, \text{ for } r \ge 2,$$
(1.1)

and as $T_{p^r}T_{q^s} = T_{q^s}T_{p^r}$ for distinct primes p and q, one can extend the multiplicatively of Hecke operators to T_n for all n,

$$T_n = \prod T_{p_i^{r_i}} \text{ where } n = \prod p_i^{r_i}.$$
(1.2)

By Proposition 1.2.8, we get that $T_{nm} = T_n T_m$ if (n, m) = 1. Now, we shall recall a proposition about the Fourier expansion of $T_n(f)$ with respect to the Fourier coefficients of f.

Proposition 1.2.9. ([15, Proposition 5.3.1]) Suppose $f \in M_k(\Gamma_1(N))$ has the Fourier expansion

$$f(z) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} a_m(f) q^m$$
, where $q = e^{2\pi i z}$.

Then, for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, $T_n(f)$ has Fourier expansion

$$(T_n f)(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_m (T_n f) q^m,$$

where

$$a_m(T_n f) = \sum_{d \mid (m,n)} d^{k-1} a_{mn/d^2}(\langle d \rangle f).$$
(1.3)

In particular, if $f \in M_k(N, \chi)$ then

$$a_m(T_n f) = \sum_{d \mid (m,n)} \chi(d) d^{k-1} a_{mn/d^2}(f).$$
(1.4)

1.3 Old forms and Newforms

In this section, we shall recall the basic theory of old forms and newforms. The space of cusp forms $S_k(\Gamma_1(N))$ equipped with an inner product, which is known

as the Petersson inner product (cf. [15, Section 5.4]).

By the Spectral theorem for finite-dimensional inner product space V, given a commuting family of normal operators \mathcal{F} on V, the space V has an orthogonal basis of eigenvectors for all the operators $T \in \mathcal{F}$. In our context, we refer to such eigenvectors by eigenforms.

Theorem 1.3.1. The space $S_k(\Gamma_1(N))$ has an orthogonal basis of simultaneous eigenforms for the Hecke operators $\{\langle n \rangle, T_n : (n, N) = 1\}$

There is a way to move between levels, i.e., taking modular forms of lower levels M to higher level N. For example, if $M \mid N$ then $S_k(\Gamma_1(M)) \subseteq S_k(\Gamma_1(N))$. There is another way to embed $S_k(\Gamma_1(M))$ into $S_k(\Gamma_1(N))$ is by composing with multiply-by-d map where d is any factor of N/M. For any such d, let

$$\alpha_d = \begin{bmatrix} d & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

So $f|_k \alpha_d(z) = d^{k-1}f(dz)$ for any modular form f. The map $|_k \alpha_d$ takes $S_k(\Gamma_1(M))$ to $S_k(\Gamma_1(N))$, lifting the level from M to N.

Definition 1.3.2. For each divisor d of N, let i_d be the map

$$i_d: (S_k(\Gamma_1(Nd^{-1})))^2 \to S_k(\Gamma_1(N))$$

given by

$$(f,g) \to f + g|_k \alpha_d.$$

The subspaces of old forms at level N is

$$S_k(\Gamma_1(N))^{\text{old}} = \sum_{p|N, \text{ prime}} i_p((S_k(\Gamma_1(Np^{-1})))^2)$$

and the subspace of newforms at level N is the orthogonal complement with respect to the Petersson inner product,

$$S_k(\Gamma_1(N))^{\text{new}} = (S_k(\Gamma_1(N))^{\text{old}})^{\perp}.$$

Since the Hecke operators preserve the spaces $S_k(\Gamma_1(N))^{\text{old}}$ and $S_k(\Gamma_1(N))^{\text{new}}$, the following result is a consequence of the spectral theorem.

Proposition 1.3.3. ([15, Corollary 5.6.3]) The spaces $S_k(\Gamma_1(N))^{\text{old}}$ and $S_k(\Gamma_1(N))^{\text{new}}$ have orthogonal bases of eigenforms for the Hecke operators $\{T_n, \langle n \rangle : (n, N) = 1\}$.

Definition 1.3.4. A non-zero modular form $f \in M_k(\Gamma_1(N))$ that is an eigenform for the Hecke operators T_n and $\langle n \rangle$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ is a Hecke eigenform or simply an eigenform. The eigenform $f(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n(f)q^n$ is normalized when $a_1(f) = 1$. A newform, or a primitive form, is a normalized eigenform in $S_k(\Gamma_1(N))^{\text{new}}$.

Theorem 1.3.5. Let $f \in S_k(\Gamma_1(N))^{\text{new}}$ be a nonzero eigenform for the Hecke operators T_n and $\langle n \rangle$ for all n with (n, N) = 1. Then

- (a) f is a Hecke eigenform, i.e., an eigenform for T_n and $\langle n \rangle$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. A suitable scalar multiple of f is a newform.
- (b) If \tilde{f} satisfy the same condition as f and has the same T_n -eigenvalues, then $\tilde{f} = cf$ for some constant c.

The set of newforms is an orthogonal basis of $S_k(\Gamma_1(N))^{\text{new}}$. Each such newform lies in an eigenspace $S_k(N,\chi)$ and satisfies $T_n f = a_n(f)f$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, i.e., the *n*-th Fourier coefficient coincides with the T_n -eigenvalues, and $\langle d \rangle f = \chi(d) f$ for any $d \in \mathbb{N}$.

1.3.6 Elliptic Curves:

Definition 1.3.7. An elliptic curve E over a field K is a non-singular projective plane curve over k defined by the equation

$$y^{2}z + a_{1}xyz + a_{3}yz^{2} = x^{3} + a_{2}x^{2}z + a_{4}xz^{2} + a_{6}z^{3},$$

where $a_1, \ldots, a_6 \in K$.

For a number field K, the group of rational points on elliptic curve E defined over K, denoted by E(K), is a finitely generated abelian group, by the Mordell-Weil theorem. Hence, one can talk about the rank and torsion group of E(K).

There is a correspondence between the elliptic curves over \mathbb{Q} with weight 2 modular forms with rational Fourier coefficients, which is known as the modularity theorem.

Theorem 1.3.8. ([44], [8]) Let *E* be an elliptic curve over \mathbb{Q} with conductor N_E . Then there exist a primitive form $f \in S_2(N_E)$ such that

$$a_p(f) = a_p(E)$$
 for all primes p ,

where $a_p(E)$ is p + 1 minus the number of points on the reduced elliptic curve E modulo p.

1.3.9 CM forms

In this section, we shall recall the notion of CM modular forms (cf. [19, page 717]). Let K be an imaginary quadratic field and \mathcal{O}_K be its integral closure. Let \mathfrak{m} be an integral ideal of K and let $I(\mathfrak{m})$ be the group of fractional ideals of K co-prime to \mathfrak{m} . By definition, a Hecke character Ψ of K is a homomorphism

$$\Psi: I(\mathfrak{m}) \to \mathbb{C}^*,$$

such that $\Psi((\alpha)) = \alpha^r$ for all $\alpha \in K^*$ with $\alpha \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{m}}$. For such a Hecke character Ψ , one can associate the function f_{Ψ} defined by

$$f_{\Psi}(z) = \sum_{\mathfrak{a} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_K, (\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{m}) = 1} \Psi(\mathfrak{a}) e^{2\pi i (N\mathfrak{a}) z},$$
(1.5)

where $N\mathfrak{a}$ denotes the norm of \mathfrak{a} . We can re-write the function as

$$f_{\Psi}(z) = \sum_{n \ge 1} a_{\Psi}(n) e^{2\pi i n z},$$

where

$$a_{\Psi}(n) = \sum_{(\mathfrak{a},\mathfrak{m})=1,N\mathfrak{a}=n} \Psi(\mathfrak{a}).$$
(1.6)

We see that $a_{\Psi}(p) = 0$, if p is does not split in K. By Hecke's theorem, the modular form $f_{\Psi} \in S_{r+1}(|d_K|N\mathfrak{m}, \epsilon)$ is an eigenform, where d_K is discriminant of field K, ϵ is a character modulo $|d_K|N\mathfrak{m}$.

Definition 1.3.10. We say that a cuspidal eigenform f is CM if $f = f_{\Psi}$ for some Hecke character Ψ of some imaginary quadratic field K.

Chapter 2

On the gaps between non-zero Fourier coefficients of cuspidal CM eigenforms

2.1 Introduction

Let *f* be a primitive form of weight $k \ge 2$ and level $N \ge 1$. By definition, every such eigenform *f* has a Fourier expansion, say $f(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_f(n)q^n$, where $q = e^{2\pi i z}$.

A famous conjecture of Lehmer predicts that $\tau(n) \neq 0$ for any $n \geq 1$, where

$$\Delta(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \tau(n) q^n$$

is the unique normalized cuspidal eigenform of weight 12 and level 1. This conjecture motivated many mathematicians to study the vanishing or non-vanishing of the Fourier coefficients of modular forms.

In order to prove the non-vanishing of Fourier coefficients, a natural way is to bound the the size of possible gaps between the non-zero Fourier coefficients, and show that they are arbitrarily small. This problem has been extensively studied by many mathematicians in several different directions through various approaches (cf. [5], [7], [34]). Typically, the approaches are either by using Rankin estimates, or Chebotarev density theorem, or distribution of \mathcal{B} -free numbers, etc.

In [41], Serre initiated a general study of estimating the size of possible gaps between the non-zero Fourier coefficients of modular cusp forms. In fact, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, he defined a function

$$i_f(n) := \max \{ i : a_f(n+j) = 0 \text{ for all } 0 \le j \le i \}.$$

So, in order to estimate the size of possible gaps between the non-zero Fourier coefficients, it is enough to find bounds for the function $i_f(n)$.

Recall that, for two functions $f : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{C}$ and $g : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that g(n) > 0 for all n sufficiently large. One writes $f(n) \ll g(n)$ as $n \to \infty$ if there exists an $M \in \mathbb{R}^+$ and $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $|f(n)| \leq Mg(n)$ for all $n \geq n_0$.

In next section, we shall discuss the history of $i_f(n)$.

2.2 History

Recall that $\tau(n)$ denote the Fourier coefficient of q^n in the series

$$\Delta(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \tau(n) q^n,$$

where $\Delta(z)$ is the unique normalized cusp form of weight 12 and level 1. In [41], Serre showed that $\tau(n)$ is non-zero for the vast majority of n. However, Lehmer's speculation that $\tau(n) \neq 0$ for every positive integer n remains open till today. In the same article, Serre proposes the study of the non-vanishing of Fourier coefficients in short intervals. In particular, if

$$f(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_f(n) q^n \in S_k(N, \chi),$$

then the study reduces to finding an upper bound for the function $i_f(n)$. In fact, in [41], he proved that if f(z) is a cusp form of integral weight $k \ge 2$ such that f(z) is not a linear combination of forms with CM, then

$$i_f(n) \ll n. \tag{2.1}$$

In view of this estimation, Serre poses the following question:

Question 2.2.1. If f(z) is a non-zero cusp form of integral weight $k \ge 2$ such that f(z) is not a linear combination of forms with CM, then can the estimate (2.1) be improved to

an estimate of the form

$$i_f(n) \ll_f n^{\delta}$$
 for some $0 < \delta < 1$?,

where the symbol \ll_f means that the implied constant depends only on f.

More generally, are there analogous results for the forms with non-integral weights? Such questions are directly related to some examples founds by Knopp and Lehner in [25, Theorem 5.3].

2.2.2 By Rankin's Method:

The first response to Serre's question occurs in an article of V. Kumar Murty (cf. [35]), where he observed that the Question 2.2.1 can be answered by using a classical result of Rankin in [39]. Rankin showed that there is a positive constant A_f for which

$$\sum_{n \le X} |a_f(n)|^2 n^{1-k} = A_f X + O(X^{3/5})$$

holds. As a consequence, we get that

$$i_f(n) \ll_f n^{3/5}.$$

This answers Question 2.2.1 affirmatively and now the question is to improve the exponent δ .

2.2.3 Theory of \mathcal{B} -free Numbers:

In [12], Balog and Ono considered the stronger forms of the Serre's question. In fact, they realized that the theory of \mathcal{B} -free numbers shall be useful to answer the questions related to $i_f(n)$. Let us recall the definition of \mathcal{B} -free numbers.

Definition 2.2.4. Let $\mathcal{B} := \{b_1, b_2, \dots\}$ be such that

$$(b_i, b_j) = 1$$
 for $i \neq j$ and $\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{b_i} < \infty$.

A number $n \in \mathbb{N}$ is said to be \mathcal{B} -free if it is not divisible by any element of the set \mathcal{B} .

The set {p² : p ∈ ℙ} can be taken as B, because ∑_{p∈ℙ} ¹/_{p²} < ∞. For this choice of B, a number n ∈ ℕ is B-free if and only if it is square-free.

• Let $f(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_f(n)q^n$ be a primitive eigenform of level $N \ge 1$, weight $k \ge 2$ and without CM. The set $C = \{p \in \mathbb{P} | a_f(p) = 0\}$ can be taken as \mathcal{B} . This is because

$$\sum_{p \in C} \frac{1}{p} < \infty.$$

which follows from a result of Serre ([41]). This is one of main reason why many authors consider only non-CM forms, especially when one uses the theory of \mathcal{B} -free numbers.

In [12], Balog and Ono proved that:

Theorem 2.2.5. ([12]) Suppose that $f(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_f(n)q^n \in S_k(N,\chi)$ is a non-zero cusp form of weight $k \ge 2$ such that f(z) is not a linear combination of forms with CM. For every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $X^{\frac{17}{41}} \le Y$, we get

$$Y \ll_{f,\varepsilon} \# \{ X < n < X + Y : a_f(n) \neq 0 \},$$
(2.2)

the symbol $\ll_{f,\varepsilon}$ means that the implied constant depends on f and ε . In particular, we have

$$i_f(n) \ll_{f,\varepsilon} n^{\frac{17}{41}+\varepsilon}.$$

In *loc.cit.*, they have also considered similar questions for weight 1 forms, halfintegral cusp forms of weight $\geq \frac{3}{2}$, that are not a linear combinations of forms with CM and obtained similar results for the Fourier coefficients in short intervals.

In [1], Alkan has improved the results of [12] and proved the following theorem for elliptic curves:

Theorem 2.2.6. ([1, Theorem 2]) Let *E* be an elliptic curve over \mathbb{Q} without CM. If $f_E(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_E(n)q^n$ is the associated weight 2 newform, then for any $\varepsilon > 0$ and $X^{\frac{69}{169}+\varepsilon} \leq Y$, we have

$$\#\{X < n < X + Y : a_E(n) \neq 0\} \gg_{E,\varepsilon} Y.$$

In particular, we have

$$i_{f_E}(n) \ll_{E,\varepsilon} n^{\frac{69}{169} + \varepsilon}$$

for every $\varepsilon > 0$.

In the same article, Alkan proved the following conditional result for cusp forms of integral weight ≥ 2 :

Theorem 2.2.7. ([1, Theorem 3]) Let $f(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_f(n)q^n \in S_k(N, \chi)$ be a non-zero cusp form of integral weight $k \ge 2$ such that f(z) is not a linear combination of forms with CM. Assuming the GRH for Dedekind Zeta functions, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $X^{\frac{69}{169}+\varepsilon} \le Y$, we have

$$#\{X < n < X + Y : a_f(n) \neq 0\} \gg_{f,\varepsilon} Y.$$

In particular, we have

$$i_f(n) \ll_{f,\varepsilon} n^{\frac{69}{169}+\varepsilon}$$

for every $\varepsilon > 0$.

In [2], Alkan improved the above results further and proved the following:

Theorem 2.2.8. ([2, Theorem 4])

(a) Let *E* be an elliptic curve over \mathbb{Q} without CM. For every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $x^{51/134+\varepsilon} \le y$, we have

$$#\{x - y < n \le x : a_E(n) \neq 0\} \gg_{E,\varepsilon} y.$$

In particular,

$$i_{f_E}(n) \ll_{E,\varepsilon} n^{51/134+\varepsilon}$$

(b) Let $f(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_f(n)q^n \in S_k(N,\chi)$ be a non-zero cusp form with integral weight $k \ge 2$ such that f(z) is not a linear combination of forms with CM. Assuming the GRH for Dedekind Zeta functions, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $x^{51/134+\varepsilon} \le y$, we have

$$#\{x - y < n \le x : a_f(n) \neq 0\} \gg_{f,\varepsilon} y$$

In particular,

$$i_f(n) \ll_{f,\varepsilon} n^{51/134+\varepsilon}.$$

If we drop the assumption of GRH for Dedekind Zeta functions in the above theorem, one gets a weaker bound for $i_f(n)$.

Theorem 2.2.9. ([2, Theorem 5]) Let $f(z) \in S_k(N, \chi)$ be a non-zero cusp form with integral weight $k \ge 2$ such that f(z) is not a linear combination of forms with CM. For every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $x^{40/97+\varepsilon} \le y$, we have

$$\#\{x - y < n < x : a_f(n) \neq 0\} \gg_{f,\epsilon} y.$$

In particular,

$$i_f(n) \ll_{f,\epsilon} n^{40/97+\varepsilon}$$

Currently, the best bound for $i_f(n)$ is available due to Kowalski, Robert, and Wu and they proved that for any holomorphic non-CM cuspidal eigenform f on general congruence groups

$$i_f(n) \ll_f n^{7/17+\epsilon} \tag{2.3}$$

holds for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ (cf. [27]). They obtained some new results in theory of exponential sums and in theory of \mathcal{B} -free numbers to prove the bound (2.3).

There is some interesting theorem in the literature, which is due to Alkan, to show that most of the times the possible gaps are extremely short. More precisely:

Theorem 2.2.10. ([1, Theorem 1]) Let $f(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_f(n)q^n \in S_k(N,\chi)$ be a nonzero cusp form of integral weight $k \ge 2$ such that f(z) is not a linear combination of forms with CM. If $\phi(x)$ is function which tends monotonically to infinity with xand satisfy $\phi(2x) \ll \phi(x)$ for all large x, then for almost all n, we have

$$\#\{n < m < n + \phi(n) : a_f(m) \neq 0\} \gg_{f,\phi} \phi(n).$$

In particular, we have

 $i_f(n) \ll_{f,\phi} \phi(n)$

for almost all n.

2.2.11 By Congruences:

For the first time, Alkan and Zaharescu, in [4], have exploited the idea of using congruences to study $i_f(n)$. There it was shown that $i_{\Delta}(n) \ll n^{\frac{1}{4}}$, where Δ is the unique normalized cuspidal eigenform of weight 12. The proof relies on the existence of sums of squares in short intervals of the form $(x, x + x^{\frac{1}{4}})$.

For level N = 1:

Das and Ganguly extended the above idea to show that for any non-zero eigenform $f \in S_k(1)$ with $k \ge 12$, one has $i_f(n) \ll n^{1/4} \quad \forall n \gg 0$, where the implied constant depends only on k. More precisely, they proved that:

Theorem 2.2.12. ([13, Theorem 1]) Given any even positive integer $k \ge 12$, there is positive constant *c* that depends only on *k* such that for all non-zero Hecke eigen-

forms $f \in S_k(1)$, $a_f(n) \neq 0$ for some integer $n \in (X, X + cX^{\frac{1}{4}})$ for all $n \geq 1154$. In particular, we have

$$i_f(n) \ll n^{1/4} \quad \forall \ n \gg 0, \tag{2.4}$$

where the implied constant depends on k.

In this proof, they exploit some congruence relations established by Hatada, in [18], for eigenvalues of Hecke operators acting on the space $S_k(1)$. In the case of level 1, this result is sharp when compared with the result of [27]. The implied constant in the above theorem can be made absolute, but this comes at the cost of larger exponent. In *loc. cit.*, the authors showed that

Theorem 2.2.13. ([13, Theorem 2]) For any fixed $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist constant c and X_0 that depend only on ε such that for any cusp form f of level one, we have that $a_f(n) \neq 0$ for some $n \in (X, X + cX^{131/416+\varepsilon})$, whenever $X > X_0$.

For level N > 1:

If the level N > 1, then there are no similar results are available with $i_f(n) \ll n^{\frac{1}{4}}$ for all $n \gg 0$. However, in [14], Das and Ganguly were able to produce infinitely many non-isogenous elliptic curves for which (2.4) holds.

For weight k > 2, in [30], Kumar proved that either if a modular cuspidal eigenform f of weight 2k is 2-adically close to an elliptic curve E over \mathbb{Q} , which has a cyclic rational 4-isogeny or if there is a higher congruence for the prime above 2 holds between them, then (2.4) holds for f as well.

He uses this fact to construct examples of non-CM, as well as CM, cuspidal eigenforms f of level N > 1 and weight k > 2 for which (2.4) holds for f. To state these results, we need to recall some definitions.

Higher congruences:

For $a \in \mathbb{N}$, a commutative ring R and a formal power series $f = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n q^n \in R[[q]]$, we define

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{q}^a} f = \inf\{n \in \mathbb{N} \cup 0 | \mathfrak{q}^a \nmid (c_n)\},\$$

where \mathfrak{q} is a prime ideal of R. Here, the convention that $\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{q}^a} f = \infty$ if $\mathfrak{q}^a | (c_n)$ for all n.

Definition 2.2.14. We say that formal power series f_1 and f_2 in R[[q]] are congruent modulo \mathfrak{q}^a , if $\operatorname{ord}_{\mathfrak{q}^a}(f_1 - f_2) = \infty$, and we denote this by $f_1 \equiv f_2 \pmod{\mathfrak{q}^a}$.

We need to a state a lemma before we go on to state the main results of [30]. This lemma shall also be useful in proving our main theorem of this chapter.

Lemma 2.2.15. ([27, Lemma 2.1]) If $f = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_f(n)q^n$ is a normalized cuspidal eigenform in $S_{2k}(N, \chi)$, then there exists a natural number $M_f \ge 1$ such that for any prime $p \nmid M_f$, either $a_f(p) = 0$ or $a_f(p^r) \ne 0$ for all $r \ge 1$. If χ is trivial and f has integer coefficients, then one can take $M_f = N$.

Now, we are in a position to state the main results of [30]. Let $f \in S_{2k}(N)$ be a normalized cuspidal eigenform of weight 2k with k > 1 and level N with coefficient field K and ring of integer \mathcal{O}_K . Let $N_f := \operatorname{lcm}(N, M_f)$, where M_f is a natural number corresponding to f as in Lemma 2.2.15. Let \mathfrak{q} be a prime ideal of \mathcal{O}_K lying above 2 and let $e(\mathfrak{q}/2)$ denote the ramification index of \mathfrak{q} .

Let f_E be the primitive form corresponding to the elliptic curve E over \mathbb{Q} of conductor N_E , which has a cyclic rational 4-isogeny (cf. Theorem 1.3.8).

Theorem 2.2.16. ([30, Theorem 3.2]) Let f and f_E be as above. If $f \equiv f_E \pmod{\mathfrak{q}^m}$ for some $m > e(\mathfrak{q}/2)$, then

$$i_{f_E}(n) \ll n^{1/4}$$

for $n \gg 0$ and implied constant depends only on $N_f N_E$.

2-adically close:

Define a function $\alpha : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}$ as follows:

$$\alpha(n) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } n \le 1, \\ 1 & \text{if } n = 2, \\ n-2 & \text{if } n > 2. \end{cases}$$

Definition 2.2.17. Let k_1 and k_2 be positive integers such that $2k_1 \equiv 2k_2 \pmod{2^s}$ for some integer $s \ge 1$. For i = 1, 2, suppose f_i are cuspidal eigenforms on $\Gamma_0(N_i)$ of level N_i and weight k_i with coefficients in \mathcal{O}_K .

We say that f_1 and f_2 are 2-adically close, if there exist a prime ideal \mathfrak{q} over 2 in \mathcal{O}_K with ramification index $e(\mathfrak{q}/2)$ and an integer m with $s \ge \alpha \left(\lceil \frac{m}{e(\mathfrak{p})/2} \rceil \right) \ge 1$ such that

$$a_{f_1}(p) \equiv a_{f_2}(p) \pmod{\mathfrak{q}^m},$$

for all primes $p \nmid 2N_1N_2$.

There is a slight difference between the notion of higher congruence and the notion of 2-adically close between two modular forms. In the former, we require that the congruences hold between all the Fourier coefficients of modular forms, where as in the latter, we require that the congruences hold between the Fourier coefficients at prime numbers, which are away from the levels. In [30], the author prove the following theorem:

Theorem 2.2.18. ([30, Theorem 4.3]) Let f and f_E be as in Theorem 2.2.16. If f and f_E are 2-identically close, then

$$i_{f_E}(n) \ll n^{1/4}$$

for $n \gg 0$ and implied constant depends only on $N_f N_E$.

By using Theorem 2.2.16 and Theorem 2.2.18, the author has constructed examples of CM and non-CM cuspidal eigenforms of weight k > 2 and level N > 1 for which (2.4) holds. A priori, one does not know how to construct infinitely many cuspidal eigenforms of level N > 1 and weight k > 2 for which (2.4) holds, i.e., generalization of results of [14] to higher weights. In this chapter, we shall answer this question.

2.3 Main theorem

The main theorem of this chapter is

Theorem 2.3.1. Let *E* be an elliptic curve over \mathbb{Q} of conductor *N* with CM by $\mathbb{Q}(i)$ and $f = f_E \in S_2(N)^{\text{new}}$ be the corresponding cuspidal Hecke eigenform. Then,

$$i_f(n) \ll n^{\frac{1}{4}}$$

for $n \gg 0$, where the implied constant depends on E.

This result is in fact the first result in the direction of elliptic curves E over \mathbb{Q} with CM. In the case of elliptic curves E over \mathbb{Q} without CM, Alkan showed that the bound $i_f(n) \ll_{f,\epsilon} n^{\frac{51}{134}+\epsilon}$ holds for any $\epsilon > 0$ (cf. Theorem 2.2.8 in the text). In comparison with Alkan's result, our bound is even sharper (i.e., $\frac{1}{4} < \frac{51}{134}$). Before moving to the proof of Theorem 2.3.1, we shall recall the main ingredients of the proof.

The following theorem tells us about the existence of a number in a small interval, which can be written as sum of two squares and co-prime to a given number. More precisely:

Theorem 2.3.2. ([13, Theorem 1]) Given any integer $N \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists $X_0 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ and c > 0 (depending only on N) such that there exists an integer n which is a sum of two squares and co-prime to N in intervals of type $(X, X + cX^{\frac{1}{4}})$ for all $X \gg X_0$.

The following theorem is due to Deuring, which plays a crucial role in the proof of Theorem 2.3.1.

Theorem 2.3.3. ([32, Chapter 3, Theorem 12]) Let *E* be an elliptic curve over \mathbb{Q} with CM by *K*. Let Ψ be the corresponding Hecke character. If $p \ge 5$, then the number $a_E(p)$ is zero if and only if either *p* is inert or ramified in *K* or divides the conductor of Ψ (equivalently, the elliptic curve has bad reduction).

Let f be an eigenform of weight 2 with trivial nebentypus with CM by K. Let Ψ be the Hecke character corresponding to f, i.e., $f = f_{\Psi} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_{\Psi}(n)q^n$. Consider the Hecke character Ψ^m , for some odd m, then the corresponding $f_{\Psi^m} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_{\Psi^m}(n)q^n$ is an eigenform with CM of weight m + 1 with trivial character. However, the eigenform f_{Ψ^m} may not be a newform unless Ψ^m is primitive. Now, we state a result of Laptyeva and Kumar Murty from [31], which provides an information about the vanishing of Fourier coefficients between the eigenforms f_{Ψ} and f_{Ψ^m} .

Proposition 2.3.4. ([31, Proposition 5.1]) Let p be a prime number. For any odd natural number $m \in \mathbb{N}$, the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. $a_{\Psi^m}(p) \equiv 0 \pmod{p}$,
- 2. $a_{\Psi}(p) \equiv 0 \pmod{p}$.

Moreover, if $p \ge 5$, the above statements are equivalent to the following:

- 1. $a_{\Psi^m}(p) = 0$,
- 2. $a_{\Psi}(p) = 0$,
- 3. *p* is inert or ramified in *K* or divides the conductor of Ψ .

Now, we are in a position to prove Theorem 2.3.1.

2.3.5 Proof of Theorem 2.3.1

Proof. By the modularity theorem, Theorem 1.3.8 in the text, the elliptic curve *E* over \mathbb{Q} with CM corresponds to a CM eigenform *f* with trivial nebentypus. Let Ψ be the Hecke character corresponding to *f*.

Take $N = 6M_f \text{cond}(\Psi)$, where M_f as in Lemma 2.2.15. By Theorem 2.3.2, there exists $X_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ and c > 0 (depending only on N) such that there exists an integer, say m, which is a sum of two squares and co-prime to N in intervals of type $(X, X + cX^{\frac{1}{4}})$ for all $X \gg X_0$. So, to prove the theorem, it is sufficient to show that $a_f(m)$ is non-zero.

Since *m* is a sum of squares and (m, 6) = 1, *m* can be written as

$$m = \prod_{p_i \equiv 1 \pmod{4}} p_i^{r_i} \prod_{q_i \equiv 3 \pmod{4}} q_i^{2s_i}.$$
 (2.5)

By (1.6), we see that for inert primes q of $\mathbb{Q}(i)$, the Fourier coefficients $a_f(q)$ are zero because there are no ideals of norm q. By the quadratic reciprocity law, the odd primes q which remain inert in $\mathbb{Q}(i)$ are exactly the primes $q \equiv 3 \pmod{4}$. However, the power of q_i in m are even and we show that $a_f(q_i^{2s_i})$ is non-zero. This is because, the Hecke relations would imply that

$$a_f(q_i^r) = a_f(q_i)a_f(q_i^{r-1}) - q_i a_f(q_i^{r-2}),$$
(2.6)

as $a_f(q_i) = 0$, (2.6) would imply that $a_f(q_i^{2r}) = (-q_i)^r a_f(q_i^{2r-2})$. Since $a_f(q_i^2)$ is non-zero, we see that $a_f(q_i^{2r})$'s are also non-zero, for all $r \ge 1, i \ge 1$.

For any split prime p of $\mathbb{Q}(i)$, the Fourier coefficient $a_f(p)$ is non-zero, by Theorem 2.3.3 and $(m, 6 \operatorname{cond}(\Psi)) = 1$. This implies that $a_f(p^r) \neq 0$ for all $r \geq 1$, since $(m, M_f) = 1$ and by Lemma 2.2.15. This shows that, for $p \equiv 1 \pmod{4}$, we have $a_f(p^r) \neq 0$ for all $r \geq 1$, since the odd primes $p \equiv 1 \pmod{4}$ are exactly the split primes of $\mathbb{Q}(i)$. Hence

$$a_f(m) = \prod_{p_i \equiv 1 \pmod{4}} a_f(p_i^{r_i}) \prod_{q_i \equiv 3 \pmod{4}} a_f(q_i^{2s_i}) \neq 0.$$

This finishes the proof of the theorem.

Remark 2.3.6. The crux in the proof of above theorem is Deuring's theorem. We could have a theorem similar to that of the above theorem for eigenforms of weight 2k with k > 1, if we had an analogous result of Deuring for higher weights. But, we are not aware of such results.

Remark 2.3.7. One might wonder the reason for working with $\mathbb{Q}(i)$, but not with any other imaginary quadratic fields. This is because, the split (resp., inert) primes of $\mathbb{Q}(i)$ are exactly the primes p which are $\equiv 1 \pmod{4}$ (resp., $p \equiv 3 \pmod{4}$). This fact is what enabled us to use the Deuring's theorem in the above proof.

Remark 2.3.8. In the above proof, we have chosen $m \in \mathbb{N}$ in such a way that m and $6M_f \operatorname{cond}(\Psi)$ are relatively prime. We need the condition $(m, 6\operatorname{cond}(\Psi)) = 1$ to make an effective use of Deuring's theorem. To apply Lemma 2.2.15, we need $(m, M_f) = 1$.

There exists at least one elliptic curve *E* over \mathbb{Q} satisfying the statement of Theorem 2.3.1. For example, the one parameter family of elliptic curves $y^2 = x^3 + ax$, with *a* varies over \mathbb{Q}^* , are defined over \mathbb{Q} and they are with CM by $\mathbb{Q}(i)$. However, all these curves are isogenous, since any two CM elliptic curves with the same endomorphism algebra are isogenous. Hence, all of them corresponding to the same weight 2 eigenform with CM.

We shall finish this chapter with the following proposition in which we construct infinitely many cuspidal CM eigenforms level N > 1 and weight k > 2 for which the (2.4) holds. This result is a generalization of the result in [14] to the higher weight case.

Proposition 2.3.9. There exists infinitely many eigenforms f with CM of weight k > 2and level N > 1 for which

$$i_f(n) \ll n^{\frac{1}{4}}$$

holds for all $n \gg 0$.

Proof. Take any elliptic curve *E* over \mathbb{Q} with CM by $\mathbb{Q}(i)$ and this corresponds to a CM eigenform *f* of weight 2 with trivial nebentypus (cf. [8]). Let Ψ be the Hecke character corresponding to *f*.

Consider the Hecke character Ψ^m , for some odd m. By Hecke's Theorem (cf. [19, page 717]), the corresponding f_{Ψ^m} is an eigenform with CM of weight m + 1 with trivial character. However, the eigenform f_{Ψ^m} may not be a newform unless Ψ^m is primitive.

By [40, Cor. 3.5], corresponding to the eigenform f_{Ψ^m} , there exists a unique newform with CM, which we denote with $g_m = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_{g_m}(n)q^n$. Then, the newform g_m of weight m + 1 with trivial character and level dividing the level of f_{Ψ^m} . Moreover, the newform $g_m(z)$ has the property that $a_{g_m}(p) = a_{\Psi^m}(p)$ for primes paway from the level of f_{Ψ^m} . Therefore, $a_{g_m}(p) = 0$ if and only if $a_{\Psi^m}(p) = 0$ for all but finitely prime p. By Proposition 2.3.4, if $p \ge 5$, we see that $a_{\Psi^m}(p) = 0$ if and only if $a_{\Psi}(p) = 0$. Hence, $a_{g_m}(p) = 0$ if and only if $a_{\Psi}(p) = 0$, for all but finitely many primes *p*. In fact, by Lemma 2.2.15, we have

$$a_{g_m}(p^k) = 0 \iff a_{\Psi}(p^k) = 0, \tag{2.7}$$

for all but finitely many primes p and for all $k \ge 1$. Now, arguing as in the proof of Theorem 2.3.1, i.e., if we take $N = 6M_f \operatorname{cond}(\Psi) \prod_{p \in B} p$, where B is the set of primes for which (2.7) does not hold and M_f is as in Lemma 2.2.15. By Theorem 2.3.2, there exists $X_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ and c > 0 (depending only on N) such that there exists an integer, say n, which is a sum of two squares and co-prime to N in intervals of type $(X, X + cX^{\frac{1}{4}})$ for all $X \gg X_0$. Then, we have $a_{\Psi}(n) \neq 0$ and hence

$$i_{q_m}(n) \ll n^{\frac{1}{4}}$$

holds for all $n \gg 0$.

As a consequence, we see that there exists infinitely many eigenforms with CM of different weights for which (2.4) holds. The levels of the eigenforms g_m 's are > 1 because the eigenforms in $S_k(SL_2(\mathbb{Z}))(k \in \mathbb{N})$ are without CM.

The proof of the above proposition would also imply that, for every integer $k \ge 1$, there exists an integer N > 1 (may depend on k) and an eigenform f with CM of weight 2k and level N for which

$$i_f(n) \ll n^{\frac{1}{4}}$$

holds for all $n \gg 0$.

Chapter 3

Sign changes for the Fourier coefficients of Hilbert modular forms of half-integral weight

3.1 Introduction

The Fourier coefficients of integral or half-integral weight modular forms over number fields have been extensively studied because of rich arithmetic and algebraic properties that they encompass. In recent years, many problems addressing the sign changes of these Fourier coefficients have been studied by various authors. In this chapter, we are interested in the sign changes of these Fourier coefficients.

In [20], Inam and Wiese showed the equi-distribution of signs for certain subfamilies of coefficients for half-integral modular forms that are accessible via the Shimura correspondence. It is natural to ask similar questions for modular forms defined over number fields, in particular, over totally real number fields, say F. There are not many results available in this setting as compared to the classical case (over \mathbb{Q}).

This chapter is a modest attempt to show that the ideas of Inam and Wiese in [20] generalize to the case of Hilbert modular cusp forms of half-integral weight. We show that sign change results holds for certain subfamilies of Fourier coefficients that are accessible via the Shimura correspondence. The proof uses the Sato-Tate equidistribution theorem for non-CM primitive Hilbert modular forms. As a consequence, we see that the Fourier coefficients change signs infinitely often.

As we mentioned above, the study of the Fourier coefficients of modular forms

over number fields has a long history. In the next section, we shall recall the known results in the literature briefly.

3.2 History

In literature, the study of sign changes for the Fourier coefficients of integral weight cusp forms over \mathbb{Q} has been initiated by Ram Murty in [36]. There, he proved that the Fourier coefficients of a cusp form of integral weight has infinitely many sign changes.

Theorem 3.2.1. ([36, Theorem 5]) If

$$f(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_f(n) q^n$$

is a non-zero cusp form belonging to any congruence subgroup, then either $\operatorname{Re} a_f(p)$ or $\operatorname{Im} a_f(p)$ change signs infinitely often.

For primitive forms of integral weight without CM, the equidistribution of signs is a consequence of the Sato-Tate equidistribution theorem due to Barnet-Lamb, Geraghty, Harris, and Taylor. They proved that:

Theorem 3.2.2. ([10, Theorem B]) Let f be a primitive form of weight $k \ge 2$ and level N and nebentypus character $\psi : (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^* \to \mathbb{C}^*$. Write

$$f(z) = q + \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} a_f(n)q^n.$$

Suppose that f is non-CM. If ζ is a root of unity with ζ^2 in the image of ψ , then as p varies over primes with $\psi(p) = \zeta^2$, the numbers $a_f(p)/(2p^{k-\frac{1}{2}}\zeta) \in \mathbb{R}$ are equidistributed in [-1, 1] with respect to the measure $\mu = (2/\pi)\sqrt{1 - t^2}dt$. In other words, for any subinterval I of [-1, 1], we have

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} \frac{\#\{p \in \mathbf{P} : p \le x, a_f(p)/(2p^{k-\frac{1}{2}}\zeta) \in I\}}{\#\{p \in \mathbf{P} : p \le x\}} = \mu(I) = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_I \sqrt{1-t^2} dt,$$

where P denotes the set of all prime numbers.

Recently, the study of sign changes has been extended to the Fourier coefficients of cusp forms of half-integral weight over \mathbb{Q} (cf. [29], [11]). To state the result of [11], we need to recall some notations.

Let \mathbb{D} denote the set of square-free positive integers. Let N be a positive integer divisible by 4, and let χ be a Dirichlet character modulo N. Let $S_{k+\frac{1}{2}}(N,\chi)$ be the space of cusp form of weight $k + \frac{1}{2}$ for the group $\Gamma_0(N)$ with character χ . Let $f = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_f(n)q^n \in S_{k+\frac{1}{2}}(N,\chi)$ be a non-zero cusp form with Fourier coefficients $a_f(n) \in \mathbb{R}$.

Theorem 3.2.3. ([11, Theorem 2.1]) Let $t \in \mathbb{D}$ such that $a_f(t) \neq 0$, and write $\chi_{t,N}$ for the quadratic character $\chi_{t,N} = (\frac{(-1)^k N^2 t}{2})$. Assume that Dirichlet *L*-function $L(s, \chi_{t,N}, N)$ has no zeros in the interval (0, 1). Then the sequence $(a_f(tn^2))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ has infinitely many sign changes.

In the case of Hecke eigenforms, they proved a stronger theorem. More precisely:

Theorem 3.2.4. ([11, Theorem 2.2]) Suppose that the character χ of f is real, and suppose that f is an eigenform of all Hecke operators $T(p^2)$. Let $t \in \mathbb{D}$ such that $a_f(t) = 1$. Then, for all but finitely many primes p such that (p, N) = 1, the sequence $(a_f(tp^{2m}))_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ has infinitely many sign changes.

In *loc. cit.*, they conjectured an equidistribution of signs for Fourier coefficients of half-integral weight modular forms over \mathbb{Q} , i.e.,

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} \frac{\#\{n \le x : a_f(n) \le 0\}}{\#\{n \le x : a_f(n) \ne 0\}} = \frac{1}{2},$$

(cf. [26] for more details). In [20], Inam and Wiese showed an equidistribution of signs for certain sub-families of coefficients for half-integral modular forms that are accessible via the Shimura correspondence. Before, we state the results of [20], we shall recall the definition of natural density. Let P denote the set of all prime numbers.

Definition 3.2.5. Let $S \subseteq \mathbf{P}$ be a subset. We define the natural density of S to be

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} \frac{\#\{p : p \le x, p \in S\}}{\#\{p : p \le x, p \in \mathbf{P}\}}$$

If the limit exists, then we denote it by d(S).

Let $k \ge 2$, N be an integer divisible by 4, χ be a Dirichlet character modulo N such that $\chi^2 = 1$. Let $f(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_f(n)q^n \in S_{k+\frac{1}{2}}(N,\chi)$ be a non-zero cuspidal Hecke eigenform of weight $k + \frac{1}{2}$ with real coefficients. Let t be a square-free integer such that $a_f(t) \ne 0$. Let $F_t(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} A_t(n)q^n \in S_{2k}(N/2,\chi^2)$ be the Hecke

eigenform of weight 2k corresponding to f under the Shimura lift (cf. [20, §3]). Define the set of primes

$$\mathbf{P}_{>0} = \{ p \in \mathbf{P} | a_f(tp^2) > 0 \}$$

and similarly $\mathbf{P}_{<0}$, $\mathbf{P}_{\geq 0}$, $\mathbf{P}_{\leq 0}$ and $\mathbf{P}_{=0}$.

Theorem 3.2.6. ([20, Theorem 4.1]) If F_t is without CM, then $\mathbf{P}_{>0}$, $\mathbf{P}_{<0}$, $\mathbf{P}_{\geq 0}$, $\mathbf{P}_{\leq 0}$ have natural density 1/2 and the set $\mathbf{P}_{=0}$ has natural density 0.

For non-zero Hilbert cusp forms of integral weight, in [33], Meher and Tanabe proved the following theorem:

Theorem 3.2.7. ([33, Theorem 1.1]) Let **f** be a Hilbert cusp form of weight $k = (k_1, \ldots, k_n)$ and level **n**, and let $C(\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{f})$ be a Fourier coefficient of **f** at each integral ideal **m** (as defined in (3.7)). If $\{C(\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{f})\}$ are all real, then there are infinitely many sign changes on $\{C(\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{f})\}$.

Furthermore, an equidistribution of signs for the Fourier coefficients of primitive Hilbert forms of integral weight without CM can be obtained as, similar to the case of classical forms, a consequence of the Sato-Tate equidistribution theorem due to Barnet-Lamb, Gee, and Geraghty [9] (cf. Theorem 3.5.4 in the text). To the best of authors knowledge, similar results are not available in the literature for Hilbert modular forms of half-integral weight.

In this chapter, we prove sign change results for the Fourier coefficients of half-integral weight by using Shimura correspondence between the half-integral weight modular forms and the integral weight modular forms. The chapter is organized as follows.

In §3.3.1, we recall the half-integral modular forms followed by integral weight Hilbert modular forms. In §3.4, we state the Shimura correspondence between them. In §3.5, we recall the Sato-Tate equidistribution Theorem for automorphic representations of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$. In §3.6, the main result of this chapter is stated as Theorem 3.6.1 with its proof immediately after.

3.3 Hilbert modular forms

3.3.1 Half-integral weight:

Let $k = (k_1, \ldots, k_n)$ be an integral or a half-integral weight, i.e., $k_j \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ for all jor $k_j = \frac{1}{2} + m_j$ with $m_j \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ for all j, respectively. Both cases together, we denote k = u/2 + m while it is understood that $u \in \{0, 1\}$ and $m = (m_1, \ldots, m_n) \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^n$. Given a holomorphic function g on \mathfrak{h}^n and an element $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n)$ of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})^n$ with $\gamma_j = \begin{bmatrix} a_j & b_j \\ c_j & d_j \end{bmatrix}$, define

$$g||_k \gamma(z) = h(\gamma, z)^{-u} \prod_j (c_j z_j + d_j)^{-m_j} g(\gamma z)$$
(3.1)

where $z \in \mathfrak{h}^n$ and $h(\gamma, z)$ is some non-vanishing holomorphic function on \mathfrak{h}^n . See [43, Proposition 2.3] for the precise definition for h. We note that the function his only defined when γ is in a "nice" subgroup of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$, but we shall not worry about the details as we only consider such a congruence subgroup Γ of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ as in (3.2). We refer the reader to Shimura [43, Section 2] for the details.

For the rest of this section, we assume k is half-integral and \mathfrak{D}_F denote the absolute different of F. Let \mathfrak{c} be an integral ideal of F that is divisible by 4 and define a congruence subgroup $\Gamma = \Gamma(\mathfrak{c})$ of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ by

$$\Gamma(\mathfrak{c}) = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R}) : \begin{array}{c} a \in \mathcal{O}_F, & b \in 2\mathfrak{D}_F^{-1} \\ c \in 2^{-1}\mathfrak{c}\mathfrak{D}_F, & d \in \mathcal{O}_F \end{array} \right\}.$$
(3.2)

Let us take a Hecke character ψ on the idele group \mathbb{A}_F^{\times} of F whose conductor divides \mathfrak{c} and infinite part $\psi_{\infty} = \prod_j \psi_{\eta_j}$ satisfies the following condition;

$$\psi_{\infty}(-1) = (-1)^{\sum_{j} m_{j}}.$$
(3.3)

Such a character ψ can be extended to a character of $\Gamma(\mathfrak{c})$, which is again denoted by ψ , as $\psi(\gamma) = \psi(a)$ where $\gamma = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix}$. We denote by $M_k(\Gamma(\mathfrak{c}), \psi)$ the set of all holomorphic functions g on \mathfrak{h}^n satisfying

$$g||_k \gamma = \psi_{\mathfrak{c}}(\gamma)g$$

for all $\gamma \in \Gamma(\mathfrak{c})$, where $\psi_{\mathfrak{c}}$ is the " \mathfrak{c} -part" of ψ , i.e., $\psi_{\mathfrak{c}} = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{c}} \psi_{\mathfrak{p}}$. In other words $M_k(\Gamma(\mathfrak{c}), \psi)$ is the space of Hilbert modular forms of half-integral weight k with respect to $\Gamma(\mathfrak{c})$ with character ψ . It should be noted that our choice of Hecke char-

acter ψ only depends on finitely many places, namely at archimedean places and the c-part. However, we will keep the notation $M_k(\Gamma(\mathfrak{c}), \psi)$ without replacing ψ with $\psi_{\mathfrak{c}}$, as the choice of characters become more crucial in §3.6.

Such a form $g \in M_k(\Gamma(\mathfrak{c}), \psi)$ is known to have the Fourier expansion corresponding to any given fractional ideal \mathfrak{a} . Its coefficients are denoted by $\{\lambda_g(\xi, \mathfrak{a})\}_{\xi,\mathfrak{a}}$ where ξ varies over totally positive elements in F. One can treat $\{\lambda_g(\xi, \mathfrak{a})\}$ as a two parameter family of Fourier coefficients for g, as varies over ξ in F and fractional ideals \mathfrak{a} . It should be noted that $\lambda_g(\xi, \mathfrak{a}) = 0$ unless $\xi \in (\mathfrak{a}^{-2})^+$ or $\xi = 0$. A modular form g is said to be a cusp form if $\lambda_{g|\gamma}(0, \mathfrak{a}) = 0$ for every fractional ideal \mathfrak{a} and every $\gamma \in SL_2(F)$. The space of such g is denoted by $S_k(\Gamma(\mathfrak{c}), \psi)$. For more details, we refer the reader to [43, Proposition 3.1].

Our aim in this chapter is to study a signs change result for a family of Fourier coefficients $\{\lambda_g(\xi, \mathfrak{a})\}$ with a varying over a certain family of fractional ideals. In the next section, we shall recall the definition and basic properties of Hilbert modular forms of integral weight. This section is essentially a summary of Raghuram and Tanabe [38, Section 4.1] with some modifications following Shimura [43, Section 6].

3.3.2 Integral weight:

We assume that $k = (k_1, ..., k_n) \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^n$ throughout this section. For a non-archimedean place \mathfrak{p} of F, let $F_{\mathfrak{p}}$ be a completion of F. Let \mathfrak{a} and \mathfrak{b} be integral ideals of F, and define a subgroup $K_{\mathfrak{p}}(\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{b})$ of $\operatorname{GL}_2(F_{\mathfrak{p}})$ as

$$K_{\mathfrak{p}}(\mathfrak{a},\mathfrak{b}) = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{GL}_{2}(F_{\mathfrak{p}}) : \begin{array}{c} a \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}, & b \in \mathfrak{a}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{-1}\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{-1}, \\ c \in \mathfrak{b}_{\mathfrak{p}}\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{p}}, & d \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}, & |ad - bc|_{\mathfrak{p}} = 1 \end{array} \right\}$$

where the subscript p means the p-parts of given ideals. Furthermore, we put

$$K_0(\mathfrak{a},\mathfrak{b}) = \mathrm{SO}(2)^n \cdot \prod_{\mathfrak{p}<\infty} K_{\mathfrak{p}}(\mathfrak{a},\mathfrak{b}) \quad \text{and} \quad W(\mathfrak{a},\mathfrak{b}) = \mathrm{GL}_2^+(\mathbb{R})^n K_0(\mathfrak{a},\mathfrak{b}).$$

In particular, if $\mathfrak{a} = \mathcal{O}_F$, we simply write $K_{\mathfrak{p}}(\mathfrak{b}) = K_{\mathfrak{p}}(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathfrak{b})$ and $W(\mathfrak{b}) = W(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathfrak{b})$. Then, we have the following disjoint decomposition of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$,

$$\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_F) = \bigcup_{\nu=1}^{h} \operatorname{GL}_2(F) x_{\nu}^{-\iota} W(\mathfrak{b}), \qquad (3.4)$$

where $x_{\nu}^{-\iota} = \begin{bmatrix} t_{\nu}^{-1} \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$ with $\{t_{\nu}\}_{\nu=1}^{h}$ taken to be a complete set of representatives of the narrow class group of *F*. We note that such t_{ν} can be chosen so that the infinity part $t_{\nu,\infty}$ is 1 for all ν . For each ν , we also put

$$\Gamma_{\nu}(\mathfrak{a},\mathfrak{b}) = \operatorname{GL}_{2}(F) \cap x_{\nu}W(\mathfrak{a},\mathfrak{b})x_{\nu}^{-1}$$
$$= \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} a & t_{\nu}^{-1}b \\ t_{\nu}c & d \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{GL}_{2}(F) : \begin{array}{c} a \in \mathcal{O}_{F}, & b \in \mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{D}_{F}^{-1}, \\ c \in \mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{D}_{F}, & d \in \mathcal{O}_{F}, \end{array} \right\}.$$

It is understood that $\Gamma_{\nu}(\mathfrak{b}) = \Gamma_{\nu}(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathfrak{b})$ as before.

Let ψ be a Hecke character of \mathbb{A}_F^{\times} such that its conductor divides \mathfrak{b} and its infinite part ψ_{∞} is of the form

$$\psi_{\infty}(x) = \operatorname{sgn}(x_{\infty})^k |x_{\infty}|^{i\mu}$$

where $\mu = (\mu_1, \dots, \mu_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $\sum_{j=1}^n \mu_j = 0$. We let $M_k(\Gamma_{\nu}(\mathfrak{b}), \psi_{\mathfrak{b}}, \mu)$ denote the space of all functions f_{ν} that are holomorphic on \mathfrak{h}^n and at cusps, satisfying

$$f_{\nu} \|_{k} \gamma = \psi_{\mathfrak{b}}(\gamma) \det \gamma^{i\mu/2} f_{\nu}$$

for all γ in $\Gamma_{\nu}(\mathfrak{b})$. We note that such a function f_{ν} affords a Fourier expansion, and its coefficients are denoted as $\{a_{\nu}(\xi)\}_{\xi}$ where ξ runs over all the totally positive elements in $t_{\nu}^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{F}$ and $\xi = 0$. Similar to the case of half-integral weight forms, a Hilbert modular form is called a cusp form if, for all $\gamma \in \operatorname{GL}_{2}^{+}(F)$, the constant term of $f \|_{k} \gamma$ in its Fourier expansion is 0, and the space of cusp forms with respect to $\Gamma_{\nu}(\mathfrak{b})$ is denoted by $S_{k}(\Gamma_{\nu}(\mathfrak{b}), \psi_{\mathfrak{b}}, \mu)$.

Now, put $\mathbf{f} = (f_1, \ldots, f_h)$ where f_{ν} belongs to $M_k(\Gamma_{\nu}(\mathfrak{b}), \psi_{\mathfrak{b}}, \mu)$ for each ν , and define \mathbf{f} to be a function on $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$ as

$$\mathbf{f}(g) = \mathbf{f}(\gamma x_{\nu}^{-\iota} w) := \psi_{\mathfrak{b}}(w^{\iota}) \det w_{\infty}^{i\mu/2}(f_{\nu}||_{k} w_{\infty})(i)$$
(3.5)

where $\gamma x_{\nu}^{-\iota} w \in \operatorname{GL}_2(F) x_{\nu}^{-\iota} W(\mathfrak{b})$ as in (3.4), $w^{\iota} = \omega_0({}^t w) \omega_0^{-1}$ with $\omega_0 = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ -1 \end{bmatrix}$, and $i = (i, \ldots, i)$. The space of such **f** is denoted as

$$\mathfrak{M}_k(\psi_{\mathfrak{b}},\mu) = \prod_{\nu} M_k(\Gamma_{\nu}(\mathfrak{b}),\psi_{\mathfrak{b}},\mu)$$

Furthermore, the space consisting of all $\mathbf{f} = (f_1, \ldots, f_h) \in \mathfrak{M}_k(\psi_{\mathfrak{b}}, \mu)$ satisfying

$$\mathbf{f}(xg) = \psi(x)\mathbf{f}(g)$$
 for any $x \in \mathbb{A}_F^{\times}$ and $g \in \mathrm{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$

is denoted as $\mathfrak{M}_k(\mathfrak{b}, \psi)$, which denotes the space of Hilbert modular forms of integral weight k of level \mathfrak{b} and character ψ .

In particular, if each f_{ν} belongs to $S_k(\Gamma_{\nu}(\mathfrak{b}), \psi_{\mathfrak{b}}, \mu)$, then the space of such **f** is denoted by $\mathfrak{S}_k(\mathfrak{b}, \psi)$. A cusp form **f** is called primitive if it is a normalized new form and a common eigenfunction of all Hecke operators.

Let \mathfrak{m} be an ideal of F and write $\mathfrak{m} = \xi t_{\nu}^{-1} \mathcal{O}_F$ with a totally positive element ξ in F. Then the Fourier coefficient of \mathbf{f} at \mathfrak{m} is defined as

$$c(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f}) = \begin{cases} a_{\nu}(\xi)\xi^{-(k+i\mu)/2} & \text{if} \quad \mathfrak{m} = \xi t_{\nu}^{-1}\mathcal{O}_F \subset \mathcal{O}_F \\ 0 & \text{if} \quad \mathfrak{m} \text{ is not integral.} \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

To make the calculation simpler at a later point, we re-normalize $c(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f})$ as follows: define

$$C(\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{f}) = \mathcal{N}(\mathbf{m})^{k_0/2} c(\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{f}), \qquad (3.7)$$

where $k_0 = \max_{j} \{k_j\}$ with $k = (k_1, \dots, k_n)$ being the weight of f.

3.4 Shimura correspondence

In this section, we shall recall the Shimura correspondence, which states that, given a non-zero half-integral weight cusp form, there is an integral automorphic form associated with it.

For any integral ideal \mathfrak{a} in \mathcal{O}_F , we introduce a formal symbol $M(\mathfrak{a})$ satisfying that $M(\mathcal{O}_F) = 1$ and $M(\mathfrak{ab}) = M(\mathfrak{a})M(\mathfrak{b})$ for all $\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{b} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$. Then one can consider the ring of formal series in these symbols, indexed by integral ideals.

The following result is the Shimura correspondence for Hilbert modular forms [43, Theorems 6.1 and 6.2]. We assume for simplicity that ψ is a quadratic character, as it will be the case in our setting.

Theorem 3.4.1. Let $0 \neq g \in S_k(\Gamma(\mathfrak{c}), \psi)$ with a half-integral weight $k = \frac{1}{2} + m$ with $m \geq 1$, an integral ideal \mathfrak{c} of F divisible by 4, and ψ being a Hecke character of F such that it satisfies (3.3) and its conductor divides \mathfrak{c} . Further, we assume that $\psi_{\infty}(x) = |x|^{i\mu}$ for any totally positive element x in $\mathbb{A}_{F,\infty}^{\times}$ with some $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $\sum_i \mu_j = 0$.

Let τ be an arbitrary element in \mathcal{O}_F^+ , and write $\tau \mathcal{O}_F = \mathfrak{a}^2 \mathfrak{r}$ for some integral ideal \mathfrak{a} and a square free integral ideal \mathfrak{r} . Then the following assertions hold.

1. Let \mathfrak{b} be a fractional ideal of F and define $\Gamma = \operatorname{GL}_2(F) \cap W(\mathfrak{b}, 2^{-1}\mathfrak{c}\mathfrak{b})$. Then there exists $f \in M_{2m}(\Gamma, \psi_{2^{-1}\mathfrak{c}}^2, \mu)$ so that

$$\sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi}\in\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{b}}/\mathcal{O}_{F}^{\times,+}} a(\boldsymbol{\xi})\boldsymbol{\xi}^{-m-i\mu} \mathbf{M}(\boldsymbol{\xi}\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{b}}^{-1}) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{m}}\subseteq\mathcal{O}_{F}} \lambda_{g}(\tau,\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{a}}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{m}}) \mathbf{M}(\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{m}}) \sum_{\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{n}}\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{m}}\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{b}}\sim 1} (\psi\epsilon_{\tau})^{*}(\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{n}}) \mathbf{N}(\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{n}})^{-1} \mathbf{M}(\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{n}})$$
(3.8)

where $\lambda_g(\tau, \mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{m})$ is the Fourier coefficient of g at a cusp corresponding to $\mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{m}$, $\psi_{\{2^{-1}\mathfrak{c}\}} = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}|2^{-1}\mathfrak{c}} \psi_{\mathfrak{p}}$, ϵ_{τ} is the Hecke character of F corresponding to $F(\sqrt{\tau})/F$, and $(\psi\epsilon_{\tau})^*$ is the character induced from $\psi\epsilon_{\tau}$. In the second sum of the right hand side in (3.8), \mathfrak{n} runs through all the integral ideal of F that are prime to \mathfrak{cr} and equivalent to $(\mathfrak{mb})^{-1}$.

2. Let $\mathbf{f}_{\tau} = (f_1, \ldots, f_h)$ where f_{ν} is of the form given in (1) with $\mathfrak{b} = t_{\nu}\mathcal{O}_F$ for all $\nu = 1, \ldots, h$. Then $\mathbf{f}_{\tau} \in \mathfrak{M}_{2m}(2^{-1}\mathfrak{c}, \psi^2)$ and it satisfies

$$\sum_{\mathfrak{m}} c(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f}_{\tau}) \mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{m}) = \sum_{\mathfrak{m}} \lambda_g(\tau, \mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{m}) \mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{m}) \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \nmid \mathfrak{c}\mathfrak{r}} \left(1 - \frac{(\psi \epsilon_{\tau})^*(\mathfrak{p})}{\mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{p})} \mathcal{M}(\mathfrak{p}) \right)^{-1}$$
(3.9)

where \mathfrak{m} runs over all the integral ideals of F and \mathfrak{p} over all the prime ideals which do not divide \mathfrak{cr} .

3. The function f given in (1) is a cusp form if $m_j > 1$ for some j.

3.5 Sato-Tate equidistribution theorem for Hilbert modular forms

In this section, we shall recall the Sato-Tate equidistribution Theorem due to Barnet-Lamb, Gee, and Geraghty in [9].

Theorem 3.5.1. ([9, Corollary 7.1.7]) Let F be a totally real number field of degree n and Π a non-CM regular algebraic cuspidal automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$. Write $\mu = (\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_n)$ for an integral weight for the diagonal torus of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{R})^n$ with $\mu_j = (a_j, b_j)$ and $a_j \ge b_j$ for all j. We note that the values $a_j + b_j$ are the same for all j, and therefore we may put $\omega_{\Pi} = a_j + b_j$. Let χ be the product of the central character of Π with $|\cdot|^{\omega_{\pi}}$, so that χ is a finite order character. Let ζ be a root of unity such that ζ^2 is in the image of χ . For any place \mathfrak{p} of F such that $\Pi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is unramified, let $\lambda_{\mathfrak{p}}$ denote the eigenvalue of the Hecke operator

$$\operatorname{GL}_{2}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}})\left(\begin{smallmatrix} \varpi_{\mathfrak{p}} \\ & 1 \end{smallmatrix}\right)\operatorname{GL}_{2}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}})$$
(3.10)

on $\Pi_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{GL}_2(\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}})}$, where $\varpi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is a uniformizer of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}$.

Then as p ranges over the unramified places of *F* such that $\chi_{p}(\varpi_{p}) = \zeta^{2}$, the number given by

$$\frac{\lambda_{\mathfrak{p}}}{2\mathrm{N}(\mathfrak{p})^{(1+\omega_{\Pi})/2}\zeta}$$

belongs to [-1, 1], and furthermore they are equidistributed in [-1, 1] with respect to the measure $(2/\pi)\sqrt{1-t^2}dt$.

Now, we rewrite the above theorem in terms of the Fourier coefficients of primitive Hilbert modular eigenforms. The following lemma provides the relation between the Fourier coefficients and the eigenvalues. More precisely,

Lemma 3.5.2. Let $\mathbf{f} \in \mathfrak{S}_k(\mathfrak{c}, \mathbb{1})$ be a primitive form in the new space, and $\Pi = \Pi_{\mathbf{f}}$ an irreducible cuspidal automorphic representation corresponding to \mathbf{f} . Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime ideal of F such that $\mathfrak{p} \nmid \mathfrak{c}\mathfrak{D}_F$. Let $c(\mathfrak{p}, \mathbf{f})$ be the Fourier coefficients at \mathfrak{p} defined as in (3.6), and $\lambda_{\mathfrak{p}}$ be the eigenvalue of the Hecke operator defined as in (3.10), then

$$\lambda_{\mathfrak{p}} = c(\mathfrak{p}, \mathbf{f}) \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{p}).$$

Proof. For a proof, please refer to [38, Page 305-306].

Let \mathbb{P} denote the set of all prime ideals of \mathcal{O}_F . Now, we recall the notion of natural density for a subset of \mathbb{P} .

Definition 3.5.3. *Let* F *be a number field and* S *be a subset of* \mathbb{P} *. We define the natural density of* S *to be*

$$d(S) = \lim_{x \to \infty} \frac{\#\{\mathfrak{p} : \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{p}) \le x, \mathfrak{p} \in S\}}{\#\{\mathfrak{p} : \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{p}) \le x, \mathfrak{p} \in \mathbb{P}\}},$$
(3.11)

provided the limit exists.

The following theorem is a consequence of Theorem 3.5.1 above:

Theorem 3.5.4. Let $\mathbf{f} \in \mathfrak{S}_k(\mathfrak{c}, \mathbb{1})$ be a primitive form of weight $k = (k_1, \ldots, k_n)$ such that $k_1 \equiv \cdots \equiv k_n \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$ and each $k_j \geq 2$. Suppose that \mathbf{f} does not have complex

multiplication. Then, for any prime ideal \mathfrak{p} of F such that $\mathfrak{p} \nmid \mathfrak{O}_F$, we have

$$B(\mathbf{p}) := \frac{C(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{f})}{2N(\mathbf{p})^{\frac{k_0-1}{2}}} \in [-1, 1].$$

Furthermore, $\{B(\mathfrak{p})\}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ are equidistributed in [-1,1] with respect to the measure $\mu = (2/\pi)\sqrt{1-t^2}dt$. In other words, for any subinterval I of [-1,1], we have

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} \frac{\#\{\mathfrak{p} \in \mathbb{P} : \mathfrak{p} \nmid \mathfrak{c}\mathfrak{D}_F, \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{p}) \le x, B(\mathfrak{p}) \in I\}}{\#\{\mathfrak{p} \in \mathbb{P} : \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{p}) \le x\}} = \mu(I) = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_I \sqrt{1 - t^2} dt,$$

i.e., the natural density of the set $\{\mathfrak{p} : B(\mathfrak{p}) \in I\}$ *is* $\mu(I)$ *.*

Proof. Let $\Pi = \Pi_{\mathbf{f}}$ be the non-CM irreducible cuspidal automorphic representation corresponding to \mathbf{f} . Since $k_1 \equiv \cdots \equiv k_n \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$ and each $k_j \geq 2$, it follows that Π is algebraic and regular (cf. [38, Theorem 1.4]). By Lemma 3.5.2, we have

$$\frac{\lambda_{\mathfrak{p}}}{2\mathrm{N}(\mathfrak{p})^{(1+\omega_{\Pi})/2}} = \frac{\mathrm{N}(\mathfrak{p})c(\mathfrak{p},\mathbf{f})}{2\mathrm{N}(\mathfrak{p})^{(1+\omega_{\Pi})/2}} = \frac{c(\mathfrak{p},\mathbf{f})}{2\mathrm{N}(\mathfrak{p})^{(\omega_{\Pi}-1)/2}}$$

Given that the highest weight vector $\mu = (\mu_1, \dots, \mu_n)$ of Π being $\mu_j = ((k_j - 2)/2, -(k_j - 2)/2)$, we have $\omega_{\Pi} = \frac{k_j - 2}{2} - \frac{k_j - 2}{2} = 0$. Hence, we get

$$\frac{\lambda_{\mathfrak{p}}}{2\mathrm{N}(\mathfrak{p})^{1/2}} = \frac{c(\mathfrak{p}, \mathbf{f})}{2\mathrm{N}(\mathfrak{p})^{\frac{-1}{2}}} = \frac{C(\mathfrak{p}, \mathbf{f})}{2\mathrm{N}(\mathfrak{p})^{\frac{k_0-1}{2}}}$$

Now, the theorem follows from Theorem 3.5.1 by taking $\zeta = 1$.

3.6 Main theorem

Let τ be an element of \mathcal{O}_F^+ and \mathfrak{a} be an integral ideal of F. We are interested in studying sign change results over a certain family of Fourier coefficients of a half-integral cusp form g, namely $\{\lambda_g(\tau, \mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{p})\}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ where \mathfrak{p} varies over prime ideals. For a fixed g, we put

$$\mathbb{P}_{>0}(\tau,\mathfrak{a}) = \{\mathfrak{p} \in \mathbb{P} : \mathfrak{p} \nmid \mathfrak{c}\mathfrak{D}_F, \ \lambda_g(\tau,\mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{p}) > 0\},\$$

and similarly $\mathbb{P}_{<0}(\tau, \mathfrak{a})$, $\mathbb{P}_{\geq 0}(\tau, \mathfrak{a})$, $\mathbb{P}_{\leq 0}(\tau, \mathfrak{a})$, and $\mathbb{P}_{=0}(\tau, \mathfrak{a})$. We also write $\mathbb{P}_{\mathfrak{c}}$ for the set of all prime ideals not dividing \mathfrak{c} . We are now ready to state the main result of this chapter.

Theorem 3.6.1. Let $0 \neq g \in S_k(\Gamma(\mathfrak{c}), \psi)$ with a half-integral weight $k = \frac{1}{2} + m$ with $m_j > 1$ for some j, an integral ideal \mathfrak{c} of F divisible by 4, and ψ a Hecke character of \mathbb{A}_F satisfying the following conditions:

- *a.* the conductor of ψ divides c,
- b. $\psi_{\infty}(-1) = (-1)^{\sum_{j} m_{j}}$, and
- *c.* for any totally positive element x in $\mathbb{A}_{F,\infty}^{\times}$, $\psi_{\infty}(x) = |x|^{i\mu}$ with some $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $\sum_{j} \mu_j = 0$.

Furthermore, we suppose that the Fourier coefficients of g *are real and the character* ψ *of* g *is quadratic.*

Let τ be an arbitrary element in \mathcal{O}_F^+ , and write $\tau \mathcal{O}_F = \mathfrak{a}^2 \mathfrak{r}$ for some integral ideal \mathfrak{a} and a square free integral ideal \mathfrak{r} . Then, there is a lift \mathbf{f}_{τ} of g under the Shimura correspondence (as in Theorem 3.4.1). Assume that \mathbf{f}_{τ} is a non-CM primitive Hilbert modular form.

Then, the natural density of $\mathbb{P}_{>0}(\tau, \mathfrak{a})$ (resp., of $\mathbb{P}_{<0}(\tau, \mathfrak{a})$) is 1/2, i.e., $d(\mathbb{P}_{>0}(\tau, \mathfrak{a})) = 1/2$ (resp., $d(\mathbb{P}_{<0}(\tau, \mathfrak{a})) = 1/2$), and $d(\mathbb{P}_{=0}(\tau, \mathfrak{a})) = 0$.

The rest of this chapter is devoted to proving the theorem. From now on, we simply write $\mathbb{P}_{>0}$ for $\mathbb{P}_{>0}(\tau, \mathfrak{a})$, etc. Let us also define

$$\pi(x) = \#\{\mathfrak{p} \in \mathbb{P} : \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{p}) \le x\} \text{ and } \pi_{>0}(x) = \#\{\mathfrak{p} \in \mathbb{P}_{>0} : \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{p}) \le x\}.$$

Then we have the following proposition.

Proposition 3.6.2. Assume that all the hypotheses in Theorem 3.6.1 hold. Then, we have

$$\liminf_{x \to \infty} \frac{\pi_{\geq 0}(x)}{\pi(x)} \ge \mu([0,1]) = \frac{1}{2} \quad and \quad \liminf_{x \to \infty} \frac{\pi_{\leq 0}(x)}{\pi(x)} \ge \mu([0,1]) = \frac{1}{2}$$

Proof. The equality of the formal sums in (3.9) can also be re-interpreted as

$$\prod_{\mathfrak{p} \nmid \mathfrak{cr}} \left(1 - \frac{(\psi \epsilon_{\tau})^*(\mathfrak{p})}{\mathrm{N}(\mathfrak{p})} \mathrm{M}(\mathfrak{p}) \right) \sum_{\mathfrak{m}} c(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f}_{\tau}) \mathrm{M}(\mathfrak{m}) = \sum_{\mathfrak{m}} \lambda_g(\tau, \mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{m}) \mathrm{M}(\mathfrak{m}).$$

For any non-zero prime ideal $\mathfrak{p} \nmid \mathfrak{cr}$, comparing the coefficients of $M(\mathfrak{p})$ on both sides gives

$$c(\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}, \mathbf{f}_{\tau}) - \frac{(\psi \epsilon_{\tau})^*(\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}})}{\mathcal{N}(\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}})} = \lambda_g(\tau, \mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}})$$
(3.12)

since \mathbf{f}_{τ} is primitive (i.e., $c(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{f}_{\tau}) = 1$). There are exactly two terms on the left side of (3.12) because the unique factorization of ideals holds in \mathcal{O}_F , and hence the only integral ideals which divides \mathfrak{p} are \mathfrak{p} and \mathcal{O}_F itself.

Since ψ is a quadratic character, the primitive Hilbert modular form \mathbf{f}_{τ} has trivial nebentypus. Hence, the Fourier coefficients $c(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{f}_{\tau})$ are real numbers (cf. [42, Proposition 2.5]). This implies that $(\psi \epsilon_{\tau})^*(\mathbf{p}) \in \{\pm 1\}$ since, by our assumption, $(\psi \epsilon_{\tau})^*(\mathbf{p})$ is a root of unity and $\lambda_g(\tau, \mathfrak{m})$ is real for all fractional ideals \mathfrak{m} .

By (3.12), we have

$$\lambda_g(\tau, \mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{p}) > 0 \Leftrightarrow c(\mathfrak{p}, \mathbf{f}_{\tau}) > \frac{(\psi \epsilon_{\tau})^*(\mathfrak{p})}{\mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{p})},$$

which gives us

$$\lambda_g(\tau, \mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{p}) > 0 \Leftrightarrow B(\mathfrak{p}) > \frac{(\psi\epsilon_{\tau})^*(\mathfrak{p})}{2\mathrm{N}(\mathfrak{p})^{\frac{1}{2}}}$$

since $B(\mathfrak{p}) = \frac{C(\mathfrak{p}, \mathbf{f}_{\tau})}{2N(\mathfrak{p})^{\frac{k_0-1}{2}}}.$

For any $\epsilon > 0$, we have the following inequality:

$$\pi_{>0}(x) + \pi\left(\frac{1}{4\epsilon^2}\right) \ge \#\{\mathfrak{p} \in \mathbb{P}_{\mathfrak{cr}\mathfrak{D}_F} : \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{p}) \le x \text{ and } B(\mathfrak{p}) > \epsilon\}$$

since $|\frac{(\psi\epsilon_{\tau})^*(\mathfrak{p})}{2N(\mathfrak{p})^{1/2}}| = \frac{1}{2N(\mathfrak{p})^{1/2}} < \epsilon$ if $N(\mathfrak{p}) > 1/4\epsilon^2$. Now divide the above inequality by $\pi(x)$ to obtain

$$\frac{\pi_{>0}(x)}{\pi(x)} + \frac{\pi\left(\frac{1}{4\epsilon^2}\right)}{\pi(x)} \ge \frac{\#\{\mathfrak{p} \in \mathbb{P}_{\mathfrak{cr}\mathfrak{D}_F} : \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{p}) \le x \text{ and } B(\mathfrak{p}) > \epsilon\}}{\pi(x)}$$

The term $\pi\left(\frac{1}{4\epsilon^2}\right)/\pi(x)$ tends to 0, as $x \to \infty$, since $\pi\left(\frac{1}{4\epsilon^2}\right)$ is finite. On the other hand, Theorem 3.5.4 gives

$$\frac{\#\{\mathfrak{p}\in\mathbb{P}: \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{p})\leq x \text{ and } B(\mathfrak{p})>\epsilon\}}{\pi(x)} \to \mu([\epsilon, 1])$$

as $x \to \infty$, and therefore we have

$$\liminf_{x \to \infty} \frac{\pi_{>0}(x)}{\pi(x)} \ge \mu([\epsilon, 1]) \text{ for all } \epsilon > 0.$$

Hence, we can conclude that

$$\liminf_{x \to \infty} \frac{\pi_{>0}(x)}{\pi(x)} \ge \mu([0,1]) = \frac{1}{2}.$$

A similar proof shows that

$$\liminf_{x \to \infty} \frac{\pi_{\leq 0}(x)}{\pi(x)} \ge \mu([0,1]) = \frac{1}{2}.$$

Proof of Theorem of 3.6.1. By Proposition 3.6.2, we have

$$\frac{1}{2} \le \liminf_{x \to \infty} \frac{\pi_{>0}(x)}{\pi(x)}.$$

Since $\pi_{>0}(x) = \pi(x) - \pi_{\le 0}(x)$, we have

$$\limsup_{x \to \infty} \frac{\pi_{>0}(x)}{\pi(x)} \le \mu([0,1]) = \frac{1}{2}.$$

Hence,

$$\frac{1}{2} \le \liminf_{x \to \infty} \frac{\pi_{>0}(x)}{\pi(x)} \le \limsup_{x \to \infty} \frac{\pi_{>0}(x)}{\pi(x)} \le \mu([0,1]) = \frac{1}{2},$$

and therefore, $\lim_{x\to\infty} \frac{\pi_{>0}(x)}{\pi(x)}$ exists and equals $\frac{1}{2}$. Thus, the set $\mathbb{P}_{>0}$ has natural density $\frac{1}{2}$. The same argument yields that $\mathbb{P}_{<0}$ has natural density $\frac{1}{2}$ as well. This proves that $\mathbb{P}_{=0}$ has natural density 0.

Corollary 3.6.3. Assume that all the hypotheses of Theorem 3.6.1 hold. Then, the set $\{\lambda_g(\tau, \mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{p})\}_{\mathfrak{p}\in\mathbb{P}}$ changes signs infinitely often. In particular, there exist infinitely many primes $\mathfrak{p} \in \mathbb{P}$ for which $\lambda_g(\tau, \mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{p}) > 0$ (resp., $\lambda_g(\tau, \mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{p}) < 0$).

Chapter 4

Simultaneous behaviour of the Fourier coefficients of two Hilbert modular cusp forms

4.1 Introduction

The sign changes and non-vanishing of the Fourier coefficients of modular forms over number fields has been an interesting area of research in the recent years. In this chapter, we study the simultaneous sign changes and simultaneous nonvanishing of the Fourier coefficients of distinct Hilbert cusp forms.

In [28], the authors show that, if f and g are two normalized cusp forms of the same level and different weights with totally real algebraic Fourier coefficients, then there exist a Galois automorphism σ such that f^{σ} and g^{σ} have infinitely many Fourier coefficients of the opposite signs. Their proof uses Landau's theorem on Dirichlet series with non-negative coefficients, the properties of the Rankin-Selberg zeta function attached to cusp forms, and the bounded denominators argument.

In [17], the authors, by using an observation about real zeros of Dirichlet series instead of bounded denominators argument, strengthen the results of [28] by doing away with the Galois conjugacy condition. In fact, they extended the result to cusp forms with arbitrary real Fourier coefficients.

In [16], the authors investigated simultaneous non-vanishing of the Fourier coefficients at the powers of a prime ideal of two different Hecke eigenforms of integral weight over \mathbb{Q} . They proved that if *f* and *g* are two Hecke eigenforms of integral weights and $a_f(n)$ and $a_g(n)$ are Fourier coefficients of *f* and *g*, respectively, then for all primes p, the set $\{m \in \mathbb{N} | a_f(p^m) a_g(p^m) \neq 0\}$ has positive density.

In [24], we extended some results of Gun, Kohnen and Rath [17] and Gun, Kumar and Paul [16] to the Hilbert modular forms case. Firstly, we show that two Hilbert cuspidal forms of different integral weights and same level have infinitely many Fourier coefficients of same sign (resp., of opposite sign). Secondly, we show that the simultaneous non-vanishing of the Fourier coefficients, of two non-zero distinct primitive Hilbert cuspidal non-CM eigenforms, at the powers of a prime ideal has positive density.

4.2 Statements of the main results

In this section, we shall state the main results of this chapter. Firstly, we prove a result on the simultaneous sign changes of the Fourier coefficients of two Hilbert cuspidal forms of different integral weights. More precisely, we prove:

Theorem 4.2.1. Let \mathbf{f} and \mathbf{g} be non-zero Hilbert cusp forms over F of level \mathbf{c} and different integral weights $k = (k_1, \ldots, k_n)$, $l = (l_1, \ldots, l_n)$, respectively. For each ideal $\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$, let $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f})$ and $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{g})$ denote the Fourier coefficients (as defined in (3.7)) of \mathbf{f} and \mathbf{g} , respectively. Further, assume that $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f})$, $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{g})$ are real numbers. If $C(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{f})C(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{g}) \neq 0$, then there exist infinitely many ideals $\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$ such that $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f})C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{g}) > 0$ and infinitely many ideals $\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$ such that $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f})C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{g}) < 0$.

The second result is about the simultaneous non-vanishing of the Fourier coefficients, of two non-zero distinct primitive Hilbert cuspidal eigenforms, at powers of a prime ideal has positive density. More precisely, we prove:

Theorem 4.2.2. Let **f** and **g** be distinct primitive Hilbert cuspidal non-CM eigenforms over F with trivial nebentypus and of levels \mathbf{c}_1 , \mathbf{c}_2 and with integral weights $k = (k_1, \ldots, k_n)$, $l = (l_1, \ldots, l_n)$, respectively. We further assume that $k_1 \equiv \cdots \equiv k_n \equiv l_1 \equiv \cdots \equiv l_n \equiv 0$ (mod 2) and each $k_j, l_j \ge 2$.

For each ideal $\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$, let $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f})$ and $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{g})$ denote the Fourier coefficients of \mathbf{f} and \mathbf{g} , respectively. Then, for any prime ideal $\mathfrak{p} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$ such that $\mathfrak{p} \nmid \mathfrak{c}_1 \mathfrak{c}_2 \mathfrak{D}_F$, the set

$$\{m \in \mathbb{N} | C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{g}) \neq 0\}$$

has positive density.

Corollary 4.2.3. Assume that the hypothesis of the above theorem holds. Then, for any prime ideal $\mathfrak{p} \nmid \mathfrak{c}_1 \mathfrak{c}_2 \mathfrak{D}_F$, there exists infinitely $m \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{f})C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{g}) \neq 0$.

4.3 **Proof of Theorem 4.2.1**

For the proof of Theorem 4.2.1, we need the following basic results.

Lemma 4.3.1. Let $s \in \mathbb{C}$ and

$$R(s) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{a(n)}{n^s}$$

be a Dirichlet series with real coefficients $a(n)(n \in \mathbb{N})$. Assume that $a(n) \ge 0$ or $a(n) \le 0$ for all $n \ge 1$. If R(s) has a real zero α in the region of convergence, then R(s) is identical zero.

Proof. Without loss of generality, we can assume that $a(n) \ge 0$ for all $n \ge 1$. Denote the sequence of partial sums of $R(\alpha)$ by $s_i = \sum_{n=1}^{i} \frac{a(n)}{n^{\alpha}}$, for $i \ge 1$. Since $a(n) \ge 0$, the sequence $\{s_i\}$ is a monotonically increasing sequence. Hence, the sequence $\{s_i\}$ converges to its least upper bound. Since, $R(\alpha) = 0$, we get that, for $i \ge 1$, s_i is zero. We can deduce that each a(i) = 0 for each i. Hence, R(s) is identical zero.

Now, if $a(n) \le 0$ for all $n \ge 1$, then we get the required result by applying above argument with -R(s).

Lemma 4.3.2. ([17, Lemma 6]) Let $s \in \mathbb{C}$ and $a(n) \in \mathbb{R}$. For $m \ge 1$, consider the Dirichlet polynomial

$$R_m(s) := \sum_{1 \le n \le m} \frac{a(n)}{n^s}$$

If $R_m(s)$ has infinitely many real zeros, then $R_m(s)$ is identically zero.

Proposition 4.3.3. ([42, Proposition 2.3]) For any integral ideal $q \subseteq O_F$ and every $\mathbf{f} \in S_k(\mathbf{c}, \psi)$, there exists an unique element of $S_k(q\mathbf{c}, \psi)$, written as $\mathbf{f}|q$, such that

$$C(\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{f}|\mathbf{q}) = C(\mathbf{q}^{-1}\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{f})$$
(4.1)

Proposition 4.3.4. ([37, Page 124]) For any integral ideal $\mathfrak{q} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$ and every $\mathbf{f} \in S_k(\mathfrak{c}, \psi)$, there exists an unique element of $S_k(\mathfrak{qc}, \psi)$, written as $\mathbf{f}|U(\mathfrak{q})$, such that

$$C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f} | U(\mathfrak{q})) = C(\mathfrak{qm}, \mathbf{f})$$
(4.2)

We need the following proposition in the proof Theorem 4.2.1.

Proposition 4.3.5. Let $\mathbf{f} \in S_k(\mathbf{c}, \psi)$ and \mathbf{q} be an integral ideal of \mathcal{O}_F . Then $\mathbf{g} = \mathbf{f} - (\mathbf{f}|U(\mathbf{q}))|\mathbf{q}$ is a Hilbert cusp form of weight k and level $\mathbf{q}^2\mathbf{c}$. Further, it has the property that $C(\mathfrak{mq}, \mathbf{g}) = 0$ and $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{g}) = C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f})$, if $(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{q}) = 1$.

Proof. Observe that $C(\mathfrak{mq}, \mathbf{g}) = C(\mathfrak{mq}, \mathbf{f} - (\mathbf{f}|U(\mathfrak{q}))|\mathfrak{q}) = C(\mathfrak{mq}, \mathbf{f}) - C(\mathfrak{mq}, (\mathbf{f}|U(\mathfrak{q}))|\mathfrak{q}).$ Now, let us compute $C(\mathfrak{mq}, \mathbf{f}|U(\mathfrak{q})|\mathfrak{q}) = C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f}|U(\mathfrak{q})) = C(\mathfrak{mq}, \mathbf{f}).$ Hence, $C(\mathfrak{mq}, \mathbf{g}) = 0.$

Now, let us look at the expression when $(\mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{q}) = 1$.

$$C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{g}) = C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f} - (\mathbf{f}|U(\mathfrak{q}))|\mathfrak{q}) = C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f}) - C(\mathfrak{m}, (\mathbf{f}|U(\mathfrak{q}))|\mathfrak{q}).$$

However, $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f}|U(\mathfrak{q})|\mathfrak{q}) = C(\mathfrak{q}^{-1}\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f}|U(\mathfrak{q})) = 0$, since $\mathfrak{q}^{-1}\mathfrak{m}$ is not an integral ideal. Hence, $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{g}) = C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f})$, if $(\mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{q}) = 1$.

Now, we are in a position to prove Theorem 4.2.1.

Proof. By hypothesis, we have $C(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{f})C(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{g}) \neq 0$. First, we will show that there exist infinitely many $\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$ such that

$$\frac{C(\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{f})C(\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{g})}{C(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{f})C(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{g})} < 0.$$
(4.3)

 \square

Without loss of generality, we can assume that $C(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{f})C(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{g}) > 0$ as otherwise we replace \mathbf{g} by $-\mathbf{g}$.

If (4.3) is not true, then there exist an ideal $\mathfrak{m}' \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$ such that

$$C(\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{f})C(\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{g}) \ge 0 \tag{4.4}$$

for all $\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$ with $N(\mathfrak{m}) \ge N(\mathfrak{m}')$. Set $\mathfrak{n} := \prod_{N(\mathfrak{p}) \le N(\mathfrak{m}')} \mathfrak{p}$, where \mathfrak{p} are prime ideals of \mathcal{O}_F .

Suppose f_1 and g_1 are Hilbert modular cusp forms obtained from f and g respectively, by applying the Proposition 4.3.5 to f and g with the ideal n. Clearly, f_1 and g_1 are also Hilbert cusp forms of level k and l respectively, and of level c_1 . We just say that the level is c_1 , because as such we do not need the explicit level in the further calculations.

For $s \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re}(s) \gg 1$, the Rankin-Selberg *L*-function of \mathbf{f}_1 and \mathbf{g}_1 is defined by

$$R_{\mathbf{f}_1,\mathbf{g}_1}(s) := \sum_{\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F, (\mathfrak{m},\mathfrak{n})=1} \frac{C(\mathfrak{m},\mathbf{f})C(\mathfrak{m},\mathbf{g})}{N(\mathfrak{m})^s}.$$
(4.5)

In above summation $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f})C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{g}) \geq 0$, since, if $N(\mathfrak{m}) \leq N(\mathfrak{m}')$ then $\mathfrak{m} = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}_i \mid \mathfrak{m}} \mathfrak{p}_i^{e_i}$

implies $(\mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{n}) \neq 1$. For $\operatorname{Re}(s) \gg 1$, we set

$$L_{\mathbf{f}_1,\mathbf{g}_1}(s) := \zeta_F^{\mathbf{c}_1}(2s - (k_0 + l_0) + 2)R_{\mathbf{f}_1,\mathbf{g}_1}(s),$$

where $\zeta_F^{\mathfrak{c}_1}(s) = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{c}_1,\mathfrak{p}: \text{prime}} (1 - N(\mathfrak{p})^{-s}) \zeta_F(s)$, where $\zeta_F(s) = \sum_{\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F} N(\mathfrak{m})^{-s}$ is Dedekind zeta function of *F*. By the Euler expansion of Dedekind zeta function of *F*, we get that

$$\begin{split} \zeta_F^{\mathfrak{c}_1}(s) &= \prod_{\mathfrak{p}|\mathfrak{c}_1,\mathfrak{p}: \text{prime}} (1 - N(\mathfrak{p})^{-s}) \prod_{\mathfrak{p}: \text{prime}} (1 - N(\mathfrak{p})^{-s})^{-1} \\ &= \sum_{\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F, (\mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{c}_1) = 1} \frac{1}{N(\mathfrak{m})^s} = \sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{a_n(\mathfrak{c}_1)}{n^s}, \end{split}$$

where $a_n(\mathfrak{c}_1)$ is the number of integral ideals of norm *n* that are co-prime to \mathfrak{c}_1 . Hence, we can write

$$L_{\mathbf{f}_1,\mathbf{g}_1}(s) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{a_n(\mathbf{c}_1)n^{k_0+l_0-2}}{n^{2s}} \times \sum_{\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F, (\mathfrak{m},\mathfrak{n})=1} \frac{C(\mathfrak{m},\mathbf{f})C(\mathfrak{m},\mathbf{g})}{N(\mathfrak{m})^s}.$$

Now, we can re-write

$$L_{\mathbf{f}_1,\mathbf{g}_1}(s) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{\mathbf{\mathfrak{b}}_m^{\mathbf{c}_1}(\mathbf{f}_1,\mathbf{g}_1)}{m^s},$$

where

$$\mathfrak{b}_m^{\mathfrak{c}_1}(\mathbf{f}_1,\mathbf{g}_1) = \sum_{n|m} \left(a_n(\mathfrak{c}_1) n^{k_0+l_0-2} \sum_{(\mathfrak{m},\mathfrak{n})=1,N(\mathfrak{m})=m/n^2} C(\mathfrak{m},\mathbf{f}) C(\mathfrak{m},\mathbf{g}) \right).$$

In the above summation $\mathfrak{b}_m^{\mathfrak{c}_1}(\mathbf{f}_1, \mathbf{g}_1) \ge 0$ for all m because $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f})C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{g}) \ge 0$, for all $(\mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{n}) = 1$, by (4.4). Observe that $\mathfrak{b}_1^{\mathfrak{c}_1}(\mathbf{f}_1, \mathbf{g}_1) = C(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{f})C(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{g})$.

Denote $k_0 := \max\{k_1, k_2, \dots, k_n\}$ and $l_0 := \max\{l_1, l_2, \dots, l_n\}$. Define, for any j, $k'_j := k_0 - k_j$, and similarly, define l'_j .

Now, look at the complete *L*-function, defined by the product

$$\Lambda_{\mathbf{f}_{1},\mathbf{g}_{1}}(s) = \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(s+1+\frac{k_{j}-l_{j}-k_{0}-l_{0}}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(s-\frac{k_{j}'+l_{j}'}{2}\right) L_{\mathbf{f}_{1},\mathbf{g}_{1}}(s)$$

can be continued to a holomorphic function on the whole plane, since the weights are different (cf. [42, Proposition 4.13]). As the Γ -function is extended by analytic

continuation to all complex numbers except the non-positive integers, where the function has simple poles, we get that the function $L_{\mathbf{f}_1,\mathbf{g}_1}(s)$ is also entire.

By Landau's Theorem it follows that the Dirichlet series $L_{\mathbf{f}_1,\mathbf{g}_1}(s)$ converges everywhere. Observe that the function $L_{\mathbf{f}_1,\mathbf{g}_1}(s)$ has real zeros because the Γ -factors have poles at non-positive integers. By Lemma 4.3.1, we have that $\mathfrak{b}_m^{\mathfrak{c}_1}(\mathbf{f}_1,\mathbf{g}_1) = 0$ for all m. This contradicts the assumption that $C(\mathcal{O}_F,\mathbf{f})C(\mathcal{O}_F,\mathbf{g}) \neq 0$ This completes the proof of (4.3).

In order to complete the proof of the Theorem 4.2.1, we need to show that there exist infinitely many $\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$ such that

$$\frac{C(\mathbf{\mathfrak{m}},\mathbf{f})C(\mathbf{\mathfrak{m}},\mathbf{g})}{C(\mathcal{O}_F,\mathbf{f})C(\mathcal{O}_F,\mathbf{g})} > 0.$$

It is sufficient to assume that $C(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{f})C(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{g}) > 0$. We then have to show that there exist infinitely many integral ideals \mathfrak{m} such that $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f})C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{g}) > 0$. If not, then $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f})C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{g}) \leq 0$ for all ideals $\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$ with $N(\mathfrak{m}) \gg 0$. Note that, $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f})C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{g})$ cannot be equal to zero for almost all ideals $\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$. For in this case $\sum_{\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F} \frac{C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f})C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{g})}{N(\mathfrak{m})^s}$ is a Dirichlet polynomial and

$$\Lambda_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{g}}(s) = \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma(s+1+\frac{k_j - l_j - k_0 - l_0}{2}) \Gamma(s-\frac{k'_j + l'_j}{2}) L_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{g}}(s)$$

is entire. The presence of the multiple Γ -factors ensures that $\sum_{\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F} \frac{C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f})C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{g})}{N(\mathfrak{m})^s}$ has infinitely many zeros. Hence, by Lemma 4.3.2, we get that $C(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{f})C(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{g}) = 0$, which is a contradiction. Hence, there exists an integral ideal $\mathfrak{d} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$ such that $C(\mathfrak{d}, f)C(\mathfrak{d}, g) < 0$.

Now, by Proposition 4.3.4, $\mathbf{f}|U(\mathfrak{d})$ and $\mathbf{g}|U(\mathfrak{d})$ are Hilbert cusp forms of weights k_1, k_2 , respectively and weight \mathfrak{dc} . Observe that

$$C(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{f}|U(\mathfrak{d}))C(\mathcal{O}_F, \mathbf{g}|U(\mathfrak{d})) = C(\mathfrak{d}, \mathbf{f})C(\mathfrak{d}, \mathbf{g}) < 0.$$

Now, by (4.3), we have $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f} | U(\mathfrak{d})) C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{g} | U(\mathfrak{d})) > 0$ for infinitely many $\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$. This proves our claim.

4.4 Proof of Theorem 4.2.2

By [42, (2.23)], the Fourier coefficients $C(\mathfrak{m}, \mathbf{f})$ of \mathbf{f} satisfy the following Hecke relations

$$C(\mathfrak{n},\mathbf{f})C(\mathfrak{n},\mathbf{f})=\sum_{\mathfrak{m}+\mathfrak{n}\subset\mathfrak{a}}N(\mathfrak{a})^{k_{0}-1}C(\mathfrak{a}^{-2}\mathfrak{m}\mathfrak{n},\mathbf{f}),$$

where $k_0 = \max\{k_1, \ldots, k_n\}$. In particular, for any $m \ge 1$, the following relation holds:

$$C(\mathbf{p}^{m+1}, \mathbf{f}) = C(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{f})C(\mathbf{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) - N(\mathbf{p})^{k_0 - 1}C(\mathbf{p}^{m-1}, \mathbf{f}).$$
(4.6)

For any integral ideal $\mathfrak{a} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$, define

$$\beta(\mathbf{a}, f) := \frac{C(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{f})}{N(\mathbf{a})^{\frac{k_0 - 1}{2}}}.$$

For any prime ideal $\mathfrak{p} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_F$, by (4.6), we have the following

$$\beta(\mathbf{p}^{m+1}, \mathbf{f}) = \beta(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{f})\beta(\mathbf{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) - \beta(\mathbf{p}^{m-1}, \mathbf{f}).$$
(4.7)

It is well-known that for a primitive Hilbert cuspidal eigenform **f** over *F*, there is an irreducible cuspidal automorphic representation $\Pi = \Pi_{\mathbf{f}}$ of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$ corresponding to it. For any place \mathfrak{p} of *F* such that $\Pi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is unramified, let $\lambda_{\mathfrak{p}}$ denote the eigenvalue of the Hecke operator

$$\operatorname{GL}_{2}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}})\begin{pmatrix} \varpi_{\mathfrak{p}} & \\ & 1 \end{pmatrix} \operatorname{GL}_{2}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}})$$

$$(4.8)$$

on $\Pi_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{GL}_2(\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}})}$, where $\varpi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is a uniformizer of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}$. For such a prime \mathfrak{p} , by [23, Lemma 3.2], we see that the eigenvalues $\lambda_{\mathfrak{p}}$ and the Fourier coefficient $C(\mathfrak{p}, \mathbf{f})$ are related by

$$\lambda_{\mathfrak{p}} = \frac{C(\mathfrak{p}, \mathbf{f})}{N(\mathfrak{p})^{\frac{k_0 - 2}{2}}}.$$

For any fixed prime ideal $\mathfrak{p} \nmid \mathfrak{c}_1 \mathfrak{c}_2 \mathfrak{D}_F$, by [23, Theorem 3.3], we have

$$\beta(\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}},\mathbf{f}) := \frac{C(\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}},\mathbf{f})}{N(\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}})^{\frac{k_0-1}{2}}} = \frac{\lambda_{\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}}}}{N(\mathbf{\mathfrak{p}})^{\frac{1}{2}}} \in [-2,2].$$
(4.9)

Since $\beta(\mathfrak{p}, \mathbf{f}) \in [-2, 2]$, we can write $\beta(\mathfrak{p}, \mathbf{f}) = 2 \cos \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}$, for some $0 \le \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} \le \pi$. Before getting into the proof of Theorem 4.2.2, we need the following proposition.

Proposition 4.4.1. For any fixed prime ideal $\mathfrak{p} \nmid \mathfrak{c}_1 \mathfrak{c}_2 \mathfrak{D}_F$ and for any $m \ge 1$, we have

$$\beta(\mathfrak{p}^{\mathfrak{m}}, \mathbf{f}) = \begin{cases} (-1)^m (m+1) & \text{if } \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} = \pi; \\ m+1 & \text{if } \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} = 0; \\ \frac{\sin(m+1)\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}}{\sin \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}} & \text{if } 0 < \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} < \pi. \end{cases}$$
(4.10)

Proof. The first two cases are easy to prove by induction. So WLOG assume that $0 < \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} < \pi$. When m = 1, we have $\beta(\mathfrak{p}, \mathbf{f}) = \frac{\sin 2\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}}{\sin \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}} = \frac{2 \sin \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} \cos \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}}{\sin \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}} = 2 \cos \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}$. Assume that $\beta(\mathfrak{p}^{\mathfrak{m}}, \mathbf{f}) = \frac{\sin(m+1)\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}}{\sin \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}}$ for some $m \ge 1$. By (4.7), we have

$$\beta(\mathfrak{p}^{m+1}, \mathbf{f}) = \beta(\mathfrak{p}, \mathbf{f})\beta(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) - \beta(\mathfrak{p}^{m-1}, \mathbf{f})$$

$$= 2\cos\alpha_\mathfrak{p}\frac{\sin(m+1)\alpha_\mathfrak{p}}{\sin\alpha_\mathfrak{p}} - \frac{\sin m\alpha_\mathfrak{p}}{\sin\alpha_\mathfrak{p}}$$

$$= \frac{2\sin(m+1)\alpha_\mathfrak{p}\cos\alpha_\mathfrak{p} - \sin m\alpha_\mathfrak{p}}{\sin\alpha_\mathfrak{p}}$$

$$= \frac{\sin(m+2)\alpha_\mathfrak{p} + \sin m\alpha_\mathfrak{p} - \sin m\alpha_\mathfrak{p}}{\sin\alpha_\mathfrak{p}}$$

$$= \frac{\sin(m+2)\alpha_\mathfrak{p}}{\sin\alpha_\mathfrak{p}}.$$

Now, we are in a position to prove Theorem 4.2.2. Let $\mathfrak{p} \nmid \mathfrak{c}_1 \mathfrak{c}_2 \mathfrak{D}_F$ be a prime ideal. By (4.9), one can write

$$\beta(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{f}) = 2 \cos \alpha_{\mathbf{p}} \text{ and } \beta(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{g}) = 2 \cos \beta_{\mathbf{p}}$$

with $0 \le \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}, \beta_{\mathfrak{p}} \le \pi$. Now, the proof of Theorem 4.2.2 follows from following cases.

Case (1): When $\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} = 0$ or π and $\beta_{\mathfrak{p}} = 0$ or π , then by Proposition 4.4.1, we see that

$$\{m \in \mathbb{N} | C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{g}) \neq 0\} = \mathbb{N}.$$

In this case all elements of the sequence $\{C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{f})C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{g})\}_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ are non-zero.

Case (2): Suppose that exactly one of $\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}$, $\beta_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is 0 or π , say $\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} = 0$ or π and $\beta_{\mathfrak{p}} \in (0,\pi)$. If $\beta_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi \notin \mathbb{Q}$, there is nothing to prove. If $\beta_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi \in \mathbb{Q}$, say $\beta_{\mathfrak{p}} = \frac{r}{s}$, where $r, s \in \mathbb{N}$ and (r, s) = 1, then we have $\sin m\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} = 0$ if and only if m is an integer

multiple of *s*, then we have

$$\#\{m \le x | C(\mathbf{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) C(\mathbf{p}^m, \mathbf{g}) \neq 0\} = \#\{m \le x | C(\mathbf{p}^m, \mathbf{g}) \neq 0\} = [x] - \left[\frac{x}{s}\right].$$

Hence the set $\{m \in \mathbb{N} | C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{g}) \neq 0\}$ has positive density.

Case (3): Suppose that $\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} = \beta_{\mathfrak{p}} \in (0, \pi)$, i.e., $\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi = \beta_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi \in (0, 1)$. If $\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi \notin \mathbb{Q}$, then $C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{f})C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{g}) \neq 0$ for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$ as $\sin m\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} \neq 0$ for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$. If $\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi \in \mathbb{Q}$, say $\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} = \frac{r}{s}$, where $r, s \in \mathbb{N}$ and (r, s) = 1, then we have $\sin m\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} = 0$ if and only if m is an integer multiple of s and hence

$$#\{m \le x | C(\mathbf{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) C(\mathbf{p}^m, \mathbf{g}) \ne 0\} = [x] - \left[\frac{x}{s}\right].$$

Hence the set $\{m \in \mathbb{N} | C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{g}) \neq 0\}$ has positive density.

Case (4): Suppose that $\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}, \beta_{\mathfrak{p}} \in (0, \pi)$ with $\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} \neq \beta_{\mathfrak{p}}$. If both $\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi, \beta_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi \notin \mathbb{Q}$, then there is nothing to prove. Next suppose that one of them, say $\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi = \frac{r}{s}$ with (r, s) = 1 and $\beta_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi \notin \mathbb{Q}$. Then we have

$$\#\{m \le x | C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{g}) \neq 0\} = \#\{m \le x | C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) \neq 0\} = [x] - \left[\frac{x}{s}\right].$$

Hence the set $\{m \in \mathbb{N} | C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{g}) \neq 0\}$ has positive density.

Now let both $\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi, \beta_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi \in \mathbb{Q}$. If $\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi = \frac{r_1}{s_1}$ and $\beta_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi = \frac{r_2}{s_2}$ with $(r_i, s_i) = 1$, for $1 \leq i \leq 2$, then

$$\#\{m \le x | C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{g}) \ne 0\} = \#[\{m \le x | C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) \ne 0\} \cap \{m \le x | C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{g}) \ne 0\}].$$

Since

$$#\{m \le x | C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{g}) = 0\} = #[\{m \le x | C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) = 0\} \cup \{m \le x | C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{g}) = 0\}]$$
$$\le \left[\frac{x}{s_1}\right] + \left[\frac{x}{s_2}\right].$$

Hence the set $\{m \in \mathbb{N} | C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{f}) C(\mathfrak{p}^m, \mathbf{g}) \neq 0\}$ has positive density. This completes the proof of Theorem 4.2.2.

References

- Alkan, Emre. Nonvanishing of Fourier coefficients of modular forms. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 131 (2003), no. 6, 1673-1680.
- [2] Alkan, Emre. On the sizes of gaps in the Fourier expansion of modular forms. Canad. J. Math. 57 (2005), no. 3, 449-470.
- [3] Alkan, Emre; Zaharescu, Alexandru. Nonvanishing of Fourier coefficients of newforms in progressions. Acta Arith. 116 (2005), no. 1, 81-98.
- [4] Alkan, Emre; Zaharescu, Alexandru. Nonvanishing of the Ramanujan tau function in short intervals. Int. J. Number Theory 1 (2005), no. 1, 45-51.
- [5] Alkan, Emre; Zaharescu, Alexandru. *B*-free numbers in short arithmetic progressions. J. Number Theory 113 (2005), no. 2, 226-243.
- [6] Alkan, Emre. Average size of gaps in the Fourier expansion of modular forms. Int. J. Number Theory 3 (2007), no. 2, 207-215.
- [7] Alkan, Emre; Zaharescu, Alexandru. On the gaps in the Fourier expansion of cusp forms. Ramanujan J. 16 (2008), no. 1, 41-52.
- [8] Breuil, Christophe; Conrad, Brian; Diamond, Fred; Taylor, Richard. On the modularity of elliptic curves over Q: wild 3-adic exercises. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 14 (2001), no. 4, 843-939.
- [9] Barnet-Lamb, Thomas; Gee, Toby; Geraghty, David. The Sato-Tate conjecture for Hilbert modular forms. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 24 (2011), no. 2, 411-469.
- [10] Barnet-Lamb, Tom; Geraghty, David; Harris, Michael; Taylor, Richard. A family of Calabi-Yau varieties and potential automorphy II. Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 47 (2011), no. 1, 29-98.

- [11] Bruinier, Jan Hendrik; Kohnen, Winfried. Sign changes of coefficients of half integral weight modular forms. Modular forms on Schiermonnikoog, 57–65, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2008.
- [12] Balog, Antal; Ono, Ken. The Chebotarev density theorem in short intervals and some questions of Serre. J. Number Theory 91 (2001), no. 2, 356-371.
- [13] Das, Soumya; Ganguly, Satadal. Gaps between nonzero Fourier coefficients of cusp forms. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 142 (2014), no. 11, 3747-3755.
- [14] Das, Soumya; Ganguly, Satadal. A note on small gaps between nonzero Fourier coefficients of cusp forms. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 144 (2016), no. 6, 2301-2305.
- [15] Diamond, Fred; Shurman, Jerry. A first course in modular forms. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 228. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2005.
- [16] Gun, Sanoli; Kumar, Balesh; Paul, Biplab. The first simultanous sign change and non-vanishing of Hecke eigenvalues of newform. https://arxiv.org/abs/1801.10590
- [17] Gun, Sanoli; Kohnen, Winfried; Rath, Purusottam. Simultaneous sign change of Fourier-coefficients of two cusp forms. Arch. Math. (Basel) 105 (2015), no. 5, 413-424.
- [18] Hatada, Kazuyuki. Eigenvalues of Hecke operators on SL(2,Z). Math. Ann. 239 (1979), no. 1, 75-96.
- [19] Hecke, Erich. Mathematische Werke. Vandenhoeck und Ruprecht, Gottingen, 1959.
- [20] Inam, Ilker; Wiese, Gabor. Equidistribution of signs for modular eigenforms of half integral weight. Arch. Math. (Basel) 101 (2013), no. 4, 331-339.
- [21] Inam, Ilker; Wiese, Gabor. A short note on the Bruiner-Kohnen sign equidistribution conjecture and Halsz' theorem. Int. J. Number Theory 12 (2016), no. 2, 357-360.
- [22] Kaushik, Surjeet; Kumar, Narasimha. On the gaps between non-zero Fourier coefficients of eigenforms with CM. International Journal of Number Theory 14 (2018), no. 1, 95-101.

- [23] Kaushik, Surjeet; Kumar, Narasimha; Tanabe, Naomi. Equidistribution of signs for Hilbert modular forms of half-integral weight. Res. Number Theory 4 (2018), no. 2, 4:13.
- [24] Kaushik, Surjeet; Kumar, Narasimha. Simultaneous behaviour of the Fourier coefficients of two Hilbert modular cusp forms. Preprint.
- [25] Knopp, Marvin.; Lehner, Joseph. Gaps in the Fourier series of automorphic forms. Analytic number theory (Philadelphia, Pa., 1980), pp. 360381, Lecture Notes in Math., 899, Springer, Berlin-New York, 1981.
- [26] Kohnen, Winfred; Lau, Yuk-Kam; Wu, Jie. Fourier coefficients of cusp forms of half-integral weight. Math. Z. 273 (2013), no. 1-2, 29-41.
- [27] Kowalski, Emmanuel; Robert, Olivier; Wu, Jie. Small gaps in coefficients of *L*-functions and *B*-free numbers in short intervals. Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 23 (2007), no. 1, 281-326.
- [28] Kohnen, Winfried; Sengupta, Jyoti. Signs of Fourier coefficients of two cusp forms of different weights. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 137 (2009), no. 11, 3563-3567.
- [29] Kohnen, Winfried. Sign changes of Fourier coefficients and eigenvalues of cusp forms. Number theory, 97-107, Ser. Number Theory Appl., 2, World Sci. Publ., Hackensack, NJ, 2007.
- [30] Kumar, Narasimha. On the gaps between non-zero Fourier coefficients of cusp forms of higher weight. The Ramanujan Journal. Vol 45 (2018), no.1, 95-109.
- [31] Laptyeva, N.; Kumar Murty, V. Fourier coefficients of forms of CM-type. Indian J. Pure Appl. Math. 45 (2014), no. 5, 747-758.
- [32] Lang, Serge. Elliptic functions. Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Inc., Reading, Mass.-London-Amsterdam, 1973.
- [33] Meher, Jaban; Tanabe, Naomi. Sign changes of Fourier coefficients of Hilbert modular forms. J. Number Theory 145 (2014), 230-244.
- [34] Matomäki, Kaisa. On the distribution of *B*-free numbers and non-vanishing Fourier coefficients of cusp forms. Glasg. Math. J. 54 (2012), no. 2, 381-397.

- [35] Murty, V. Kumar. Lacunarity of modular forms. J. Indian Math. Soc. (N.S.) 52 (1987), 127–146 (1988).
- [36] Murty, M. Ram. Oscillations of Fourier coefficients of modular forms. Math. Ann. 262 (1983), no. 4, 431-446.
- [37] Panchishkin, Alexey A. Non-Archimedean *L*-functions of Siegel and Hilbert modular forms. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1471. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1991.
- [38] Raghuram, A.; Tanabe, Naomi. Notes on the arithmetic of Hilbert modular forms. J. Ramanujan Math. Soc. 26 (2011), no. 3, 261-319.
- [39] Rankin, R. A. Contributions to the theory of Ramanujan's function $\tau(n)$ and similar arithmetical functions. I. The zeros of the function $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \tau(n)/n^s$ on the line $\Re s = 13/2$. II. The order of the Fourier coefficients of integral modular forms. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 35, (1939). 351–372.
- [40] Ribet, Kenneth A. Galois representations attached to eigenforms with Nebentypus. In Modular functions of one variable, V (Proc. Second Internat. Conf., Univ. Bonn, Bonn, 1976), pages 17-51. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 601. Springer, Berlin, 1977.
- [41] Serre, Jean-Pierre. Quelques applications du théorème de densité de Chebotarev. Inst. Hautes tudes Sci. Publ. Math. No. 54 (1981), 323-401.
- [42] Shimura, Goro. The special values of the zeta functions associated with Hilbert modular forms. Duke Math. J. 45 (1978), no. 3, 637-679.
- [43] Shimura, Goro. On Hilbert modular forms of half-integral weight. Duke Math. J. 55 (1987), no. 4, 765-838.
- [44] Wiles, Andrew. Modular elliptic curves and Fermat's last theorem. Ann. of Math. (2) 141 (1995), no. 3, 443-551.

Publications:

- 1. Kaushik, Surjeet; Kumar, Narasimha. On the gaps between non-zero Fourier coefficients of eigenforms with CM. International Journal of Number Theory 14 (2018), no. 1, 95-101.
- 2. Kaushik, Surjeet; Kumar, Narasimha; Naomi, Tanabe. Equidistribution of signs for Hilbert modular forms of half-integral weight. Res. Number Theory 4 (2018), no. 2, 4:13.